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Praise for The Oil Kings


“Adds significant insight to one of the most important periods in the American relationship with petroleum . . . . [The Oil Kings] excels by virtue of focus, discipline, and original research. Supporting his account, Cooper draws from significant sources—most of which were classified until recently—that re-create the personal relationships that proved crucial to world history.”


—Brian Black, The Christian Science Monitor


“[A] compelling chronicle of America’s involvement with Middle East petroleum states.”


—Michael Hiltzik, Los Angeles Times


“The role of oil in the foreign policy of the United States is the subject of endless conspiracy theories. The reality is both more mundane and more startling than the conventional wisdom would have it . . . . Mining a rich lode of previously unreleased documents, Cooper uses the very words of the protagonists to tell a story so sensitive that it has remained virtually covert. In doing so, he sheds surprising new light on U.S.–Iranian relations and the origins of the Iranian revolution.”


—Gary Sick, author of All Fall Down: America’s Tragic Encounter with Iran and former member of the National Security Council


“As uprisings today rock the Muslim world, with America at war across the region, Andrew Cooper transports us back to where it all began: with the startling diplomatic and military machinations of the seventies, when oil first became a global weapon and the White House was roiled by Vietnam and Watergate. Meticulously researched, vividly told, with an inside-the-room intimacy, The Oil Kings reminds us of the ultimate folly of America’s efforts to dominate world events—especially through its co-dependency with rival petro-states. This is an important and powerful book.”


—Barry Werth, author of 31 Days: The Crisis That Gave Us the Government We Have Today


“Cooper skillfully mines previously classified documents to make clear that high-profile inmates were running the foreign-policy asylum.”


—Paul Jablow, The Philadelphia Inquirer


“Relying on a rich cache of previously classified notes, transcripts, cables, policy briefs and memoranda, Cooper explains how oil drove, even corrupted, American foreign policy during a time when Cold War imperatives still applied . . . . A revelatory, impressive debut.”


—Kirkus Reviews


“Scintillating diplomatic history . . . . Its centerpiece is Cooper’s superb, lacerating portrait of Henry Kissinger. As the super-diplomat’s obsession with great-power rivalries founders in a new world of global economics that he can’t fathom, Cooper gives us both a vivid study in sycophancy and backstabbing and a shrewd critique of Kissingerian geo-strategy.”


—Publishers Weekly


“A very detailed and fascinating narrative history of selected US–Iranian–Saudi oil relations during a short but extremely turbulent period three-and-a-half decades ago.”


—David E. Long, The Middle East Journal
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To My Family





AUTHOR’S NOTE


    On September 24, 2015, several thousand Muslim pilgrims died during a stampede at the annual hajj pilgrimage in Mecca. Two weeks earlier, 107 people were killed when a nearby crane toppled over in high winds and plunged through the roof of the Grand Mosque. In recent years Islam’s sacred city had been transformed by a building boom that razed historic neighborhoods and replaced them with skyscrapers, shopping malls, and luxury hotels. “The city is turning into Mecca-hattan,” complained the director of Britain’s Islamic Heritage Research Foundation. “Everything has been swept away to make way for the incessant march of luxury hotels, which are destroying the sanctity of the place and pricing normal pilgrims out.” Many Muslims blamed the Saudi royal family for tolerating the desecration of revered sites associated with the Prophet Mohammad and they saw the twin tragedies at the hajj as the inevitable outcome of years of greed, profligacy, and mismanagement. The fiercest criticism came from Iran, which suffered the most casualties. Supreme Leader Ayatollah Ali Khamenei demanded an apology from Saudi Arabia’s King Salman and protested delays in repatriating his country’s dead and injured. Protesters in Tehran marched outside the Saudi embassy and clerics called for the Saudi royal family to be tried in the Hague for crimes against humanity. The Saudi authorities responded by accusing their neighbors across the Persian Gulf of politicizing a tragedy and exploiting public grief to settle scores.


    The hajj stampede was the latest flashpoint in a series of confrontations between Iran and Saudi Arabia that had escalated since the 2011 Arab Spring revolutions opened a Pandora’s box of sectarian and political tensions in the Middle East. Out of the disarray and tumult emerged the regional architecture for a new “cold war” with Saudi Arabia rallying the ­region’s Sunni population against Iran, which mobilized Shia minorities and associated proxy groups. They took opposing sides in wars raging in Iraq, Syria, and Yemen and did not hesitate to draw in the United States, Russia, France, and Great Britain to support their strategic objectives. The oil markets became the latest frontline in their struggle for supremacy when in the second half of 2014 Saudi Arabia took advantage of a soft oil market to flood the world with surplus crude. Four years earlier The Oil Kings had revealed that the Saudis viewed the oil markets as a legitimate venue for conflict and a weapon to drive down prices to deprive Iran of income to meet financial obligations. “Iran will come under unprecedented economic and financial pressure as it tries to sustain an economy already battered by international sanctions,” boasted Nawaf Obaid, a security consultant with close ties to the Riyadh regime, in December 2014. He was aware that on two earlier occasions, in 1977 and again in 2008, flooded oil markets caused Iran’s economy to contract and were followed in short order by social and political unrest.


    This time the Saudi flood did not go quite as well as expected, and if anything led to blowback when oil prices failed to rebound to a level that would cushion Saudi Arabia’s economy while still causing Iran’s to hemorrhage. The slowdown in growth in China helped ensure that oil prices stayed below $50 per barrel, significantly down from the original peak of over $100 per barrel. Tehran also deftly outmaneuvered Riyadh by signing a historic agreement with Washington to freeze its nuclear program. The nuclear deal allowed Tehran to claim the diplomatic high ground and signaled its willingness to reengage with the global economy. Iran’s economy still suffered from high inflation and unemployment but by the fall of 2015 it was clear that the Saudis were on the defensive.


    Earlier in the year, King Salman had announced a more robust defense posture in the region. Salman was confident that he could pursue a policy of guns and butter, finance generous welfare handouts and wars in Syria, Iraq, and Yemen thanks to the kingdom’s foreign exchange reserves. Saudi Arabia also stepped up aid and arms to Egypt, Lebanon, and other Arab states that felt threatened by Iran or internal subversion. Yet Saudi Arabia’s military was largely untested and the regime faced a formidable foe in Iran. The House of Saud also faced a host of internal problems. Over the years the royal family had passed up repeated opportunities to introduce political reforms while the economy was strong and it ruled from a position of strength. The family had still made no real effort to build viable political institutions that could “let off steam” during hard times and channel popular discontent away from rather than toward the ruling elite. It had failed to engage the urban middle class, which remained politically illiterate and immature and could be expected to decamp to the south of France at the first sign of trouble. Saudi Arabia’s overextended economy also raised alarm, with the International Monetary Fund predicting that the kingdom would exhaust its financial reserves within five years if current levels of spending were not curtailed. In short, the House of Saud had failed to learn the lessons from Iran. In 1978 the Shah realized only too late that lavish spending programs did not buy loyalty, and that focusing on industrial development without paying attention to political reform raised the risk of revolution from below.


    Faced with a broad array of domestic and foreign tests, King Salman and his ambitious young son Deputy Crown Prince Mohammad bin Salman were in danger of overreaching. Far from containing unrest, their intervention in regional conflicts seemed only to add to the turmoil and extremism whipping through the region. The barbarous Islamic State accepted King Salman’s challenge and threatened to take its jihad to Saudi Arabia and lead an uprising against the House of Saud. Ominously, cells of suicide bombers infiltrated Riyadh, established safe houses and engaged in gun battles with the security forces. To the south, the war in Yemen spilled over into Saudi Arabia’s southern border. Unrest was also reported in the kingdom’s restive eastern provinces, heavily populated by a Shia minority. Some senior members of the ruling dynasty were so worried that the king and his son were driving them into a ditch that they plotted an “intervention.” “The public are also pushing this very hard, all kinds of people, tribal leaders,” an unnamed prince told the Guardian. “They say you have to do this or the country will go to disaster.”


    Despite valiant efforts over the past decade to reduce their dependency on Middle East oil consumption, Americans remained hostages to fortune in the Middle East, heavily enmeshed in Saudi Arabia and invested in the fate of that country’s royal family. They were preoccupied as usual with Iran. There were the several hundred thousand Americans living and working in Persian Gulf states just a stone’s throw from wars, insurgencies, and genocidal atrocities. What would happen to them if the unrest spread south? They posed the softest of targets for Islamist terrorists and the ­Islamic State. Perhaps the real test for U.S. policymakers would come when Saudi Arabia, Washington’s anchor of stability, was faced with the first real stirrings of popular discontent, and perhaps even an urban insurrection. How would the Saudi royal family respond? The oil flood of 1977 helped steer Iran off a cliff—only time would tell if Saudi Arabia’s reliance on the oil markets as a weapon would lead it to disaster too. For now, at least, and for the foreseeable future, the United States remains highly vulnerable to unrest and revolution in the region.


A.S.C.


    New York, 2015





INTRODUCTION


“Why should I plant a tree whose bitter root


Will only serve to nourish poisoned fruit?”


—Abolqasem Ferdowsi, The Persian Book of Kings


On November 25, 2006, U.S. vice president Dick Cheney flew to Riyadh for talks with King Abdullah of Saudi Arabia, the elderly autocrat whose desert kingdom is home to one fifth of the world’s proven oil reserves and is the largest producer within OPEC, the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, the oil producers’ cartel. The king was evidently in need of reassurance from his American allies. Earlier in the month the U.S. war effort in Iraq had been dealt a setback after voters in midterm elections routed Republican incumbents and turned control of the Congress over to Democrats. Almost immediately, President George W. Bush accepted the resignation of Cheney’s partner in power Secretary of Defense Donald Rumsfeld, and offered “to find common ground” with critics of his administration’s handling of the war. For the first time in three and a half years the talk in Washington was not of victory in Iraq but of an orderly withdrawal of coalition forces. The Saudis expressed concern that their neighbor and historic rival Iran would take advantage of the U.S. departure to assert its regional ambitions. Saudi Arabia’s ambassador to Washington, Prince Turki al-Faisal, bluntly reminded the White House that “since America came into Iraq uninvited, it should not leave Iraq uninvited.”


The price of oil also came up in the vice president’s meeting with Saudi officials. Over the summer of 2006 world energy markets had tightened, driving prices to record levels. Soaring fuel prices threatened America’s prosperity and the economies of its trading partners. Oil as high as $78 a barrel also posed a challenge to U.S. foreign policy in the Middle East, where oil producers reaped windfall profits. The Bush White House was especially concerned about what the government of Iran would do with its new billions. “Iran’s profits from oil rose last year to more than $45 billion from $15 billion, surging at a rate not seen since 1974, when the country’s oil revenues tripled,” reported The New York Times. The surge in Iranian oil profits was accompanied by a marked upswing in regional tensions and violence that included a ferocious month-long war fought in Lebanon between Israel and Hezbollah, the Shi’a group whose leaders received political cover and financial and military backing from Tehran. The prospect of President Mahmoud Ahmadinejad using his country’s oil revenues to speed up Iran’s nuclear program, strengthen the Iranian military, and arm Hezbollah in Lebanon, the radical Hamas Islamic group based in Gaza, and pro-Iranian Shi’a militias in Iraq, was anathema to officials in Washington and Riyadh. The Saudi royal family had seen this before. Back in the 1970s Shah Mohammad Reza Pahlavi of Iran had been the driving force behind high oil prices that he hoped would transform Iran into an economic and military powerhouse. Only the 1979 Islamic Revolution had put paid to the Shah’s ambitions to dominate the Persian Gulf, West Asia, and the Indian Ocean.


Although President Ahmadinejad would have never dared admit it, there were striking parallels between his effort to project Iranian petropower under the guise of pan-Islamism, and the Shah’s earlier drive to revive Iran’s long dormant Persian aspirations. Their strategic visions overlapped in ways that suggested some striking continuities. Both leaders saw Iran as the regional hegemon. They identified oil revenues and nuclear power as the keys to attaining international stature and domestic self-reliance. They relished provoking the same Western powers that at one time had treated Iran like a colonial vassal. Perhaps their most obvious shared trait was a King Midas complex. Like the Shah, Ahmadinejad was a big spender who believed that high oil prices freed him from the need to practice fiscal restraint. “Critics said that his plans for generous spending to create jobs and increase salaries were politically motivated and fiscally unsound,” noted one observer. “His budget relied on high oil profits likely to invite inflation.” The Iranian central bank proposed a $40 billion fiscal stimulus that included subsidies for families and newlyweds.


Ahmadinejad’s spendthrift ways presented King Abdullah of Saudi Arabia with a golden opportunity. With petroleum responsible for 80 percent of income from exports, Iran’s economy was perilously exposed to an unexpected price fluctuation in the oil markets. Tehran confidently expected consumer demand for oil to stay high, guaranteeing equally high prices. But what would happen to Iran’s budget assumptions if oil prices suddenly plunged? Oil-producing countries base their spending plans and financial estimates on oil prices not falling below a certain threshold. If prices do suddenly plunge below that level—and if producers have not left themselves with enough of a financial cushion to absorb the blow from lost export receipts—the potential exists for a fiscal meltdown. Billions of dollars in anticipated revenue would disappear. Tehran would be forced to economize and decide whether to spend money on guns or butter—whether to lavish aid on Hezbollah and Hamas or to prop up the complex system of food, fuel, housing, and transportation subsidies that keeps Iran’s middle class in check. Removing the subsidies would increase the potential for protests and clashes between security forces and opposition groups.


Only one country had the means and the motive to engineer a price correction on that scale. With its giant petroleum reserves and untapped production capacity, Saudi Arabia could flood the market by pumping enough surplus crude into the system to break the pricing structure and drive prices back down. The Saudi royal family has always understood that petropower is about more than creating wealth, developing its economy, and preserving power. Oil is also the Saudis’ primary weapon of national self-defense and the key to their security and survival. Flooding the market is economic warfare on a grand scale, the oil industry’s equivalent of dropping the bomb on a rival. A flooded market and lower prices would inevitably result in billions of dollars in lost revenues to the Saudis. However, the threat from Iran was seen as outweighing that loss, and by late 2006 King Abdullah was prepared to tap Saudi oil reserves.


“A member of the Saudi royal family with knowledge of the discussions between Mr. Cheney and King Abdullah said the king had presented Mr. Cheney with a plan to raise oil production to force down the price, in hopes of causing economic turmoil for Iran without becoming directly involved in a confrontation,” reported The New York Times. Flooding the market would “force [Iran] to slow the flow of funds to Hezbollah in Lebanon and to Shiite militias in Iraq without getting directly involved in a confrontation.” The Saudis may also have had in mind a second motive. From past experience they knew that if oil prices stayed too high for too long, the United States would be forced to reduce its consumption of foreign oil and take steps to encourage energy conservation and diversification. Less reliance on Saudi oil would translate into a reduction in Saudi strategic leverage over U.S. policy toward Israel and the Middle East.


On November 29, 2006, four days after Cheney’s return to Washington, The Washington Post published an essay by Nawaf Obaid, a prominent security adviser to the Saudi government and adjunct fellow at Washington’s Center for Strategic and International Studies. Obaid’s article warned that one of the consequences of a sudden U.S. withdrawal from Iraq would be “massive Saudi intervention to stop Iranian-backed Shiite militias from butchering Iraqi Sunnis.” Obaid reminded his readers that “as the economic powerhouse of the Middle East, the birthplace of Islam and the de facto leader of the world’s Sunni community (which comprises 85 percent of Muslims), Saudi Arabia has both the means and religious responsibility to intervene.” Buried in Obaid’s article was a chilling threat that officials back in Tehran could not have failed to miss:


Finally, Abdullah may decide to strangle Iranian funding of the militias through oil policy. If Saudi Arabia boosted production and cut the price of oil in half, the kingdom could still finance its current spending. But it would be devastating to Iran, which is facing economic difficulties even with today’s high prices. The result would be to limit Tehran’s ability to continue funneling hundreds of millions each year to Shiite militias in Iraq and elsewhere.


Obaid’s article drew my attention because for several months I had already been studying the impact of an earlier little known and less understood intervention by the Saudis in the oil market. In 1977, one year before the outbreak of revolutionary unrest in Iran, oil markets had been paralyzed by a bitter split among members of OPEC over how much to charge consumers. The Shah of Iran had proposed a 15 percent price hike for the coming year. King Khalid of Saudi Arabia had resisted the Shah’s entreaties and argued that no price increase was warranted at a time when Western economies were mired in recession. The Shah won the day and persuaded the rest of OPEC to join him in adopting a double-digit price increase for 1977. The Saudi response was swift and ruthless. Riyadh announced it would take drastic steps to ensure that Iran’s new price regime never took effect. It would do this by exceeding its production quota, pumping surplus oil onto the market, and undercutting the higher price offered by its competitors. Overnight, Iran lost billions of dollars in anticipated oil revenue. The Shah’s government, reeling from the blow, was forced to take out a bridge loan from foreign banks. It made deep cuts to domestic spending in an attempt to balance the books and implemented an austerity plan that threw tens of thousands of young Iranian men out of work and into the streets. The economic chaos that ensued helped turn Iranian public opinion against the royal family.


Thirty years later, all the indications were that Saudi Arabia was prepared to replicate its earlier feat. There is still much that we don’t know about U.S.-Saudi efforts to destabilize Iran’s economy during President Bush’s last two years in office. What we do know is that the Saudi government publicly reacted to the uproar over Nawaf Obaid’s article by formally severing its ties with the consultant. Diplomatic observers in Washington understood that this was part of a much bigger game. “[Obaid] is widely expected to return to the government in some capacity,” noted one expert. “The Saudi government disavowed Mr. Obaid’s column, and Prince Turki canceled his contract,” reported The New York Times. “But Arab diplomats said Tuesday that Mr. Obaid’s column reflected the view of the Saudi government, which has made clear its opposition to an American pullout from Iraq.” Then, one week later, Saudi Arabia’s ambassador to Washington, Prince Turki, lost his job and was abruptly summoned home.


What was going on here? What message was King Abdullah trying to send Tehran and Washington? The best way to understand Saudi policy and what happened next is to follow the price of oil over the next two years. Saudi Arabia’s budget for 2007 was reportedly based on oil prices not falling below $42 a barrel and production of 9 million barrels a day. By the summer of 2007, despite efforts to restrain their momentum, prices had returned to their earlier peak from a year before of $78. Publicly at least, OPEC members pledged not to allow oil to surpass $80 a barrel. Yet by the end of November 2007 the price of a barrel of oil had rocketed to $98. In January 2008, President Bush personally appealed to King Abdullah to practice price restraint—the U.S. economy was beginning to show signs of buckling under the strain of high oil prices, mortgage foreclosures, credit defaults, and shaky banks.


The Saudis, eager to reel in Ahmadinejad, opened the spigots and exceeded their OPEC production quota by 250,000 barrels a day. It turned out not to be enough. The Saudis cranked up their production yet again, this time from 9.2 million barrels a day to 9.7 million barrels. The price of a barrel of oil broke the $100 ceiling in April, $118 in May, and finally topped out at $147.27 in July. Prices then fell sharply as Saudi oil flooded the system even as the U.S. economy sharply contracted. By September, when oil had retreated in price to $107 a barrel, it was the turn of President Ahmadinejad to display anxiety. The Iranians had wrongly assumed that the price of oil would not fall below $90 a barrel. They appealed to the Saudis to hold the line on prices. King Abdullah responded by keeping the spigots open and collapsing OPEC’s pricing structure. By December, the price of oil had retreated to $43 a barrel. Satisfied, the Saudis reduced output to 8.5 million barrels a day. When prices plunged to $33 in January 2009, the Saudis cut production still further, this time to 8 million barrels. The Iranian regime entered a crucial presidential election year having sustained a devastating reversal of economic fortune. The fraudulent outcome of its midyear election was accompanied by economic contraction and the worst political unrest since the fall of the Shah three decades earlier.


In the meantime I had located documents that revealed that President Gerald Ford and top White House officials had been closely involved in the first Saudi effort to flood the market in 1977. The documents raised the puzzling question of why the United States would back a covert effort to manipulate oil markets knowing it would damage Iran’s economy and hurt its close ally the Shah. Presidents Richard Nixon and Ford each hosted the Shah at the White House, praised him as a statesman and friend, and furnished him with advanced weapons systems, thousands of military advisers, and even offered to sell Iran nuclear reactors. The documents raised the prospect of a secret crisis in relations at the highest levels, and that previously unknown tensions had led to a high-stakes showdown over oil prices and the long-term future of the OPEC cartel. As I wrote in the October 2008 Middle East Journal:


While much scholarly focus has been on the internal political, cultural, economic and social origins of the revolution, the role of state finances—and oil revenues in particular—has received far less attention. The Iranian revolution shared similarities with two other great revolutions: France in 1789 and Russia in 1917. All three upheavals were preceded by fiscal crises. In Iran’s case the dramatic revenue fluctuations of 1977 were acknowledged and duly noted at the time by Tehran-based foreign correspondents. But the underlying rationale for Saudi Arabia’s decision to torpedo the December 1976 OPEC oil price increase, and particularly the Ford administration’s role in that fateful decision, has not been explained until now.


My search for understanding uncovered a hidden history of U.S.-Iran-Saudi oil diplomacy from 1969 to 1977, the backstory of the crucial eight-year period when the United States went from being the world’s number one oil producer to the biggest importer of petroleum, and when Saudi Arabia’s House of Saud replaced Iran’s Pahlavi king as Washington’s indispensable ally in the Persian Gulf. Here, finally, is the inside story of how two American presidents, Richard Nixon and Gerald Ford, dealt with Iran and Saudi Arabia as they grappled with the challenges of America’s growing dependence on foreign sources of energy, how Nixon’s handling of U.S.-Iran relations in particular during the energy crisis of the early 1970s set the scene for a potentially catastrophic financial crisis in the waning days of Ford’s administration, and why Ford eventually felt he had no choice but to throw his support behind a remarkable plan to break the power of OPEC with the help of the Saudis.


My book makes clear that the U.S.-Saudi oil coup directed against the Shah’s leadership of OPEC was not a conspiracy intended to topple him from Iran’s Peacock Throne. Revolutions are highly complex phenomena that cannot be simplified in conspiratorial terms or explained simply by one or two trigger causes. Yet there is no denying that the U.S. decision to break OPEC caused significant problems for the Shah, and at the worst possible time. It dealt a severe psychological blow to him by undermining his stature as OPEC’s leader and creating a perception of political weakness at home and abroad. It signaled a loss of control by the Shah over Iran’s primary source of state revenue. And it shook the foundations of Iran’s troubled economy just as domestic unrest against the Shah was beginning to crest. U.S.-Saudi collusion to break OPEC from the inside and deliver it into Saudi hands turned out to be a disaster for U.S. interests. Although not wholly to blame for the economic chaos that engulfed Iran on the eve of the revolution, the U.S.-Saudi oil coup against OPEC intensified and accelerated the process of collapse in Iran.


The Oil Kings is a multilayered narrative written through the prism of U.S. oil policy. The book can be interpreted in different ways: as a parable on the corrupting influence of oil on America’s national security policy; as a lesson in the limits of American power in the wake of the retreat from Vietnam, the Watergate scandal, and the energy crisis of the 1970s; as a contest of personalities such as Nixon, the Shah, Sheikh Ahmed Zaki al-Yamani of Saudi Arabia, Secretary of State Henry Kissinger, Secretary of Treasury William E. Simon, and defense secretaries James Schlesinger and Donald Rumsfeld; as an autopsy on empire, in this case Iran’s Pahlavi dynasty, and how the fortunes of the Persian crown rose and fell with the oil market; as the triumph of nationalism in settling scores between old rivals Iran and Saudi Arabia; and as a cautionary tale of what happened between friends of long standing and to old alliances when the geopolitics of the Cold War collided with the reality of the oil market and the global economy, whose rough outline was only just beginning to take shape in the mid-1970s. It is a narrative that internationalizes U.S.-Iran relations and Iran’s revolution by placing bilateral and internal events in a strategic and geopolitical context outside the boundaries of the Persian Gulf. I found it impossible to address tensions between the United States and Iran over oil prices without also taking into consideration events in faraway Great Britain, France, Portugal, Italy, Spain, and Canada. How these events affected bilateral relations between Washington and Tehran will no doubt be debated for a long time to come by scholars in the field.


The narrative includes stories told for the first time, that, for example, illustrate the extraordinary degree of Iranian involvement—not to mention outright manipulation—in U.S. politics and foreign policy in the 1970s, and the extent to which the tentacles of the oil states of the Middle East reached right into the Oval Office to influence presidential decision making to an astonishing degree on domestic and foreign policy. We now know that the U.S. response to the 1971 India-Pakistan War, the 1972 U.S. presidential election, the Arab-Israeli War of 1973, the 1973–74 Arab oil embargo, the 1974–75 oil shock, the 1975 Middle East peace shuttle, and the 1976 U.S. presidential election all had an Iranian component. This book provides answers to long-standing questions about U.S.-Iran military contingency planning, the Ibex spy project, Iran’s nascent nuclear program, and the mysterious dealings of Colonel Richard Hallock. It settles debates over the nature of the secret deals worked out between President Nixon and the Shah regarding oil prices and arms sales, the extent to which White House officials were aware of the terrorist threat to U.S. nationals in Iran, awareness of the rising opposition to the Shah from his own people, and whether anyone in the White House had any prior knowledge of the Shah’s secret treatments for the cancer that eventually took his life.


Secretary of State Henry Kissinger once famously described the Shah of Iran as “that rarest of leaders, an unconditional ally, and one whose understanding of the world enhanced our own.” For thirty years, we have had to take Kissinger’s word for it. In the 1970s he concluded an array of highly secret deals with the Shah worth billions of dollars involving the transfer of men, money, and machinery on a scale that even today is almost unimaginable. Where exactly did all that national treasure go? How was it expended? In three volumes of memoirs totaling 3,955 pages and including 193 photographs of the former secretary of state with every world leader, foreign minister, and ambassador of note except the Shah of Iran in the 1970s, one wonders why Kissinger was photographed with a flock of geese in China but not pictured in the company of the man he claimed to so admire?


His books tell us nothing of substance about the intimate workings of his remarkable relationship with Shah Mohammad Reza Pahlavi. As an example, Kissinger devotes only three sentences to a secret bilateral oil deal that is a major focus of the second half of my book. British author William Shawcross once observed that “readers who seek understanding of the [U.S.-Iran] debacle will not find it in Kissinger’s memoirs any more than in Nixon’s before him. Indeed, the way in which the two men treat Iran shows how terribly inadequate autobiographies can be as points of reference, let alone accounts of history . . . . This skimpy treatment can be explained only by a desire to conceal.” Kissinger was not alone. As Shawcross notes, Nixon made only two brief references to the Shah in his autobiography, precisely two more than his successor, Gerald Ford, in his autobiography. Richard Helms, the man who represented their interests as U.S. ambassador in Tehran, wrote a memoir that is a masterpiece of dissembling and obfuscation. I wondered: if the Shah was worth defending, why was he not worth talking about?


My book utilizes the declassified meeting notes of General Brent Scowcroft, Kissinger’s deputy and eventual successor to the post of national security adviser. Scowcroft attended every meeting of importance in the White House that pertained to oil, Iran, and Saudi Arabia during the period from late 1973 to the end of January 1977. I also drew on the declassified transcripts of Kissinger’s White House telephone conversations; the translated diaries of the Shah’s senior adviser, Imperial Court Minister Amir Asadollah Alam; the diaries of former chairman of the U.S. Federal Reserve Arthur Burns; thousands of pages of declassified cables, policy briefs, and memoranda from the State Department, the Defense Department, the CIA, the National Security Council, and the Federal Energy Administration; Nixon’s and Ford’s personal correspondence with foreign heads of state including the Iranian and Saudi monarchs; approximately sixty bound volumes containing more than one thousand newspaper and magazine articles and primary and secondary source materials; oral history interviews; and interviews I conducted with the few surviving officials on either side who had some knowledge of the diplomacy of the time and were willing to talk about it: General Scowcroft, former Secretary of Defense James Schlesinger, former head of the Federal Energy Administration Frank Zarb, former Iranian foreign minister and ambassador Ardeshir Zahedi, and retired American diplomats. As it turned out, even they had been kept in the dark about the full extent of many of the deals revealed in these pages.


A feature of the Kissinger-Shah relationship was its emphasis on oral agreements and the absence of a paper trail. Kissinger compartmentalized their dealings, cut his colleagues out of his back channels to the palace, and was not averse to engaging in elaborate deceptions to throw them off his trail. Frank Zarb did not know that Kissinger sabotaged his negotiating stance during oil talks with the Iranian government. It was only in the course of our interview that former Secretary of Defense Schlesinger learned the rationale behind a $500 million U.S. arms deal to Iran that he had vigorously opposed but nonetheless was required to implement. During my investigation I did not turn up a single document that spelled out in specific detail the terms of each of the secret deals brokered between Kissinger and the Shah. There might be references here and there, sometimes spoken, sometimes written, but never in one place and often mentioned over a period of months, if not years.


Throughout the book I have tried to place the reader in the position of government officials in the United States, Europe, and the Middle East as they struggled to deal with the dangerous new world unleashed by the 1970s revolution in oil pricing. They faced a series of painful policy choices. In the wake of the pullout from Vietnam, the Watergate affair, and the energy crisis, the United States confronted a resurgent Soviet Union, oil shortages, and economic recession. Oval Office transcripts confirm that U.S. officials, including Nixon, Ford, and Kissinger, were convinced that the West was in crisis and that the fraught political and economic conditions of the 1930s were reasserting themselves. The decisions they made were based on the lessons of history from that earlier frightening period. This mind-set—that catastrophe was just around the corner—culminated in what I like to think of as the story of the greatest financial crisis never told, when in 1976 Treasury Secretary Bill Simon, Chairman of the Council of Economic Advisers Alan Greenspan, and Chairman of the Federal Reserve Arthur Burns warned President Ford that banks on Wall Street were at risk of collapse if OPEC raised the price of oil. The U.S. economy teetered on the edge of a double-dip recession as governments in Europe slid toward insolvency. It is a scenario that may sound familiar today.


To paraphrase the great historian Barbara Tuchman, America’s tortured relations with the oil producers of the Persian Gulf have to date been one long march of folly. As we enter the second decade of the twenty-first century, more and more it is a march that is beginning to feel forced. The United States now imports almost two thirds of its oil from overseas and has gone to war twice in less than fifteen years to secure its Persian Gulf oil lifeline. “I am saddened that it is politically inconvenient to acknowledge what everyone knows: the war in Iraq is about oil,” Alan Greenspan wrote with admirable frankness in his memoir. He continued:


Thus, projections of world oil supply and demand that do not note the highly precarious environment of the Middle East are avoiding the eight-hundred-pound gorilla that could bring world economic growth to a halt. I do not pretend to know how or whether the turmoil in the Middle East will be resolved. I do know that the future of the Middle East is a most important consideration in any long-term energy forecast . . . . Until industrial economies disengage themselves from, as President George W. Bush put it, “our addiction to oil,” the stability of the industrial economies and hence the global economy will remain at risk.


The American economy’s chronic addiction to cheap oil is obvious. Less well known is the story of when that addiction began and why the United States became so reliant in particular on Saudi Arabia for its continued goodwill and cooperation. The same is true of America’s toxic relationship with Iran. The two countries have been at each other’s throats for so long now that it seems hard to believe they were ever allies—let alone partners in a secret contingency plan to invade Saudi Arabia and seize its oil wealth. Until these tensions are resolved, and until both countries come to terms with their complicated shared history, it seems inevitable that the tree of American-Iranian relations will bear poisoned fruit for many years to come.


The proud man at the center of the events in this book still looms large in our collective conscience. More than thirty years have passed since Shah Mohammad Reza Pahlavi of Iran left the world stage as a stateless refugee. The story of his triumphant rise and equally spectacular fall is a cautionary tale for other statesmen seeking to emulate his achievements. The question is often asked: Where did it all go wrong for the Shah? There is no single turning point in his fortune, though a good place to start may be in the spring of 1969, when the Iranian king traveled to Washington to attend the funeral of former U.S. president Dwight Eisenhower. It was a trip that did not at the time appear to hold any great significance, either for the Shah or for his host, Richard Nixon, who had been president for just two months. Only now can we see that the Shah’s trip was an important early signpost on the road leading to revolution.


A.S.C.


Piraeus, Greece, 2010





A NOTE ON THE USE OF IRANIAN IMPERIAL TITLES


The Shah of Iran was both king and emperor of Iran. During the reign of the Pahlavi dynasty Iran was formally recognized in the international realm as the “Empire of Iran.” The formal title of Iran’s Shahanshah, or King of Kings, was “Mohammad Reza Shah Pahlavi,” which is translated as “Mohammad Reza, the Pahlavi king.” In his diaries, Imperial Court Minister Asadollah Alam simply referred to the Shah as “HIM” or “His Imperial Majesty.” It was the same with the Shahbanou, a title that translates as the “Shah’s Lady.” Farah Pahlavi was both queen and empress, the later title granted after the couple’s joint coronation in 1967. Asadollah Alam referred to her in his diaries as “HMQ” or “Her Majesty the Queen,” and the Shah usually referred to his wife as “the Queen.” In domestic and foreign media Farah’s titles, like her husband’s, tended to be interchangeable.





Part One


GLADIATOR


1969–1974


“If someone wraps a lion cub in silk,


A little whelp, who’s not yet tasted milk,


It keeps its nature still, and, once it’s grown,


Fights off an elephant’s attack alone.”


—Abolqasem Ferdowsi, The Persian Book of Kings





Chapter One


A KIND OF SUPER MAN


“Your Majesty, you’re like the radiant sun


Bestowing light and life on everyone:


May greed and anger never touch your reign


And may your enemies live wracked with pain.


Monarch with whom no monarch can compete,


All other kings are dust beneath your feet,


Neither the sun nor moon has ever known


A king like you to occupy the throne.”


—Abolqasem Ferdowsi, The Persian Book of Kings


“I like him, I like him and I like the country. And some of those other bastards out there I don’t like, right?”


—President Richard Nixon, 1971


FIRST AMONG EQUALS


They came to bury Caesar. In the spring of 1969 the funeral of Dwight David Eisenhower, the great wartime commander, Europe’s liberator from Nazi occupation, and America’s two-term president, proved an irresistible draw to a generation of world leaders who owed their freedoms, fortunes, and in some cases their lives to the soldier-politician from Kansas. On March 30, millions of television viewers in the United States watched as a stately procession of crowned heads and dignitaries including King Baudouin I of Belgium, King Constantine II of Greece, Grand Duke Jean of Luxembourg, Lord Louis Mountbatten of Great Britain, and President Ferdinand Marcos of the Philippines gathered in the Capitol Rotunda in Washington to pay their respects. Two faces in the pantheon of greats stood out. Onlookers were touched to see a stooped seventy-eight-year-old President Charles de Gaulle of France shuffle forward to salute his wartime comrade’s bier. The other statesman familiar to Americans was the Shah of Iran, the fabulously wealthy emperor whose lavish titles were matched only by his three brilliant marriages. Standing erect in elevator shoes, still trim at age forty-nine, his hawkish features resolute, His Imperial Majesty Mohammad Reza Shah Pahlavi, King of Kings, Light of the Aryans, and Shadow of God, radiated the majesty of the fabled Peacock Throne and shouldered the weight of 2,500 years of Persian monarchy. Wearing a ribbon-slashed military tunic topped off with enough gold braid and orders of state to ornament a Christmas tree, the Shah looked for all the world as though he had just stepped out of a Habsburg drawing room at the Congress of Vienna.


Mohammad Reza Shah’s decision to attend Eisenhower’s funeral was not driven by sentiment toward the man who intervened to save Iran’s Peacock Throne in 1953. “I pointed out that it will provide an ideal opportunity to meet the new American administration and he agreed,” wrote Asadollah Alam, the Shah’s closest adviser and minister of the imperial court. Alam kept a series of secret diaries in which he recorded daily life at the Pahlavi court. Richard Nixon had been sworn in as America’s thirty-seventh president less than ten weeks earlier and the Iranian king was anxious to reaffirm their long-standing acquaintance.


If the Shah’s Ruritanian splendor seemed misplaced in the year of Woodstock, the Apollo moon landing, and the Manson Family murders, the empire of oil he had reigned over for twenty-eight years made him the man of the moment in the Nixon White House. “The Shah is clearly the most important person in Iran,” the State Department advised President Nixon in 1969. “By Iranian tradition any Shah is a kind of super man whose position and prerogatives have even mystical significance. This Shah adds to this tradition the weight of his enormous political sagacity, his intelligence and cunning, his ability to get things done as an executive.” At Eisenhower’s funeral the Shah was treated as first among equals. His scheduled private meeting with the president ran over by a half hour. During the funeral ceremonies in the National Cathedral the Shah was seated prominently in the front row beside Nixon’s elder daughter, pretty blond Tricia. Tricia’s sister, Julie, had recently married David Eisenhower, Ike’s grandson, and received from the Shah a stunning blue and maroon Persian rug as a wedding gift. At a glittering dinner the Nixons hosted for their foreign guests it was the Shah and de Gaulle who “stole the show,” observed Alam. “None of the others got a look in.”


ONE BIG GASOLINE BOMB


Mohammad Reza Shah Pahlavi was a hard man to say no to in the spring of 1969. Everything had turned in his and Iran’s favor in recent years. The United States was mired in a punishing land war in Vietnam, one that had bitterly divided the American home front and exposed the perils of trying to enforce a Pax Americana on the unruly outer edges of empire. Nixon had promised to end the war and draw down the American presence in East Asia. The problem for Washington was that Great Britain had made a similar pledge to pull out of the Persian Gulf by the end of 1971, leaving the Asian continent’s western flank vulnerable to seizure or subversion from radicals and mischief makers aligned with the Soviet Union. The cash-strapped British were ending more than a century of gunboat diplomacy in an area that held two thirds of the world’s known petroleum reserves. Oil from the Persian Gulf accounted for one third of the petroleum used by the free world and 89 percent of the oil used by the U.S. military in Southeast Asia. The region’s booming oil industry generated $1.5 billion in revenue for the United States economy and employed twelve thousand American expatriates. The pitiful reality was that the U.S. naval presence in the Persian Gulf consisted of a seaplane tender and two destroyers “assigned an area from Malaysia to South Africa.”


The Persian Gulf’s topography made it uniquely vulnerable to sabotage. The Gulf was located at the crossroads between the Middle East and Southwest Asia, a jagged gash of water separating Shi’a Iran in the north from its Sunni neighbors to the south. Oman, perched at the mouth of the Gulf, was torn by a rebellion fanned by leftist South Yemen. The pro-Soviet regime in power in Iraq was embroiled in fratricidal purges while it sharpened the knives against Kuwait next door. Saudi Arabia’s ruling Saud dynasty trembled and tottered even as postage-stamp-size sheikhdoms clung to its coastline like fingertips clutching at a robe. Afghanistan and Pakistan were sinking under the waves like grand old liners taking in water at the heads. Oil was the prize. Fifty-five percent of NATO Europe’s oil and a staggering 90 percent of Japan’s petroleum supplies came from the Persian Gulf. If the Gulf was blockaded the lights would go out from Tokyo to Rome. Every day tankers laden with 25 million barrels of oil left ports in Iran, Iraq, Kuwait, and Saudi Arabia headed for the Arabian Sea and the Indian Ocean, bound for Rotterdam, Cape Town, and Singapore. Before reaching open water they had to pass through a tight choke point called the Strait of Hormuz, a razor-thin artery only twenty-one miles wide at its narrowest point that could be “interrupted by a few mines thrown over the side of a fishing dhow or by guerrilla attacks on the endless parade of tankers.” Every thirty minutes a tanker passed through on its way to market. President Nixon and the Shah of Iran had talked about the fact that the whole of West Asia needed shoring up before it collapsed and took the free world’s oil lifeline down with it. The greatest fear of Western military planners was that Soviet paratroopers would swoop in and seize the Strait of Hormuz during a regional crisis. “The Gulf is one big gasoline bomb,” warned an oil industry expert. “It could blow up anytime, especially now that the British are leaving.”


President Nixon and his most influential foreign policy aide, National Security Adviser Henry Kissinger, were anxious to secure Persian Gulf oil fields and shipping lanes once the British sailed for home. In July 1969 Nixon traveled to South Vietnam to rally the troops. During a stopover on the island of Guam he described his vision for how Washington could reduce its physical presence in Asia and avoid future land wars without compromising its national security. His remarks were later burnished for posterity as the “Nixon Doctrine” and they became Nixon’s contribution to the formulation of American foreign policy during the Cold War.


Vietnam had exposed the limitations of American power. Under the Nixon Doctrine the United States would simultaneously draw down in Asia even as it ramped up its support for proxies willing to guard freedom’s forts from Tehran to Sydney. The United States would provide these allies with the weapons and the training they needed to do the job on its behalf. “The U.S. is no longer in a position to do anything really helpful,” explained a White House official. “That would be ‘imperial.’ We’ll just have to rely on the people who live there and maybe it will go all right.” When it came to defending the mountainous approaches to Central and West Asia, patrolling the warm waters of the Persian Gulf, and propping up the gateway to the Arabian Sea and the Indian Ocean, the only likely candidate for the role of American centurion was the Shah of Iran. Richard Nixon and Henry Kissinger were “dealing with the Vietnam drawdown and the reactions of the American people to Vietnam, and it drove the administration to look outside for gladiators,” recalled James Schlesinger, the future secretary of defense who inherited the complexities and contradictions of their Iran policy. “We were going to make the Shah the Guardian of the Gulf. Well, if we were going to make the Shah the Guardian of the Gulf, we’ve got to give him what he needs—which comes down to giving him what he wants.”


The decision to delegate authority and power to the Shah in West Asia seemed logical and practical at the time. The Shah believed that Iran’s future lay with the non-Communist West. He intended to replicate Japan’s success in pulling off an economic miracle in the aftermath of the Second World War. “His goal was to make Iran a modern major power before he died; that was what made him move,” recalled Armin Meyer, who served as President Lyndon Johnson’s ambassador to Iran in the late 1960s. “He openly talked of Iran becoming the ‘Japan of West Asia.’ ” By 1969 the Shah was widely regarded outside Iran as a force for stability, a champion of progressive reform, and the bold leader who broke the power of Iran’s feudal landowning aristocracy and conservative religious establishment to give women the vote and land to the peasantry. He appointed Western-educated technocrats to run Iran’s government and economy even as he concentrated real power in his own hands.


The Shah admired the West for its technological advances and prosperity while distrusting its motives where Iran’s oil was concerned. In 1941 Great Britain and the Soviet Union had invaded and occupied Iran to prevent the country’s oil fields and rail links from falling into German hands. The Allies forced the Shah’s father, Reza Shah, to abdicate in his son’s favor and live in exile. For the remainder of the war young Mohammad Reza Shah reigned but did not rule. The monarchy’s prospects were bleak. The end of war in 1945 did not bring peace to Iran. The Shah barely survived threats to his life and throne from right-wing religious fanatics and left-wing political extremists. Relations with Iran’s northern neighbor the Soviet Union, with whom it shared a 1,250-mile border, were especially problematic. Moscow initially resisted evacuating its troops from Iran and tried to split the country by stirring up secessionist sentiment in the north. For the rest of his life the Shah remained deeply distrustful of Russia and its intentions toward Iran, whose vast oil reserves placed it on the front lines in the new Cold War.


The next great crisis involved Iran’s former colonial overlord Great Britain. The British government had pulled out its troops but clung to the lucrative monopoly it had exercised over Persian oil reserves since the turn of the century. Iranians of all political stripes cheered when in 1951 Prime Minister Mohammad Mossadegh defied British threats and nationalized Iran’s oil industry. Mossadegh was a charismatic leader whose nationalist instincts later raised the hackles of Prime Minister Winston Churchill and President Eisenhower. The political alliance that Mossadegh forged with Iran’s Communist Tudeh Party hinted at a creeping Soviet takeover of Persian oil fields. Churchill warned Ike that the West could not allow an unstable Iran to fall into Stalin’s hands. He advocated the overthrow of the Mossadegh government. President Eisenhower opposed direct military intervention and settled on a plan of covert action. In August 1953 the White House approved Operation Ajax, a joint conspiracy carried out by Iranian royalists with the support of the U.S. and British intelligence services. The lead American in the field was the Central Intelligence Agency’s Kermit “Kim” Roosevelt, grandson of President Theodore Roosevelt. Within the CIA, Roosevelt reported up the ranks to the agency’s chief of operations in the Directorate of Plans, a man named Richard Helms, who would play a crucial role in Iran in future years. “I just know that he would have been generally under my jurisdiction,” was how Helms later modestly described their association. “I think it was agreed that Roosevelt would lead the field operation and that the British and American officers would work under him on this.” As the coup unfolded Helms followed events by the flow of cables that arrived from Tehran.


The coup plotters succeeded almost in spite of themselves. At one point the Shah lost his nerve and fled Iran with his second wife, Queen Soraya, in a small plane. Yet the conspirators carried the day after intense street fighting erupted in Tehran. Mossadegh was overthrown and arrested and the Shah returned to Iran in triumph. Predictably enough, Operation Ajax left a mixed legacy. Many ordinary Iranians assumed the United States had replaced Great Britain as the foreign power now pulling the strings, controlling their king and Iran’s oil riches. The Shah never quite succeeded in removing the taint of illegitimacy or puppetry. Pahlavi loyalists were unhappy too, bitterly complaining with some justification that the CIA later rewrote history by exaggerating its part while downplaying the Iranian contribution. Richard Helms would only admit that the CIA played a “rather important” role in bringing the coup about because “otherwise things would never come to a boil. I don’t mean to, and I’m not interested in making generalizations, but organizing groups of people is not big in Persian life.” Helms’s view was that the CIA had acted as facilitator, cheerleader, and rainmaker for a powerful coalition of anti-Mossadegh groups whose elements included influential religious leaders, politicians, merchants, and generals. Helms insisted that he had not been “intimately involved in the planning.”


The success of Operation Ajax led to American overconfidence in Iran. U.S. officials miscalculated when they concluded that the Shah understood that he “owed” the United States and that he would instinctively toe Washington’s line rather than look after his own national interests. Only later did it become apparent that the Shah didn’t see it that way at all. “The CIA felt they had sort of a proprietary interest in Iran, because they had helped get the Shah back,” explained Douglas MacArthur II, who served as President Nixon’s first ambassador to Iran from 1969 to 1972. The spy agency’s own confusion about the legacy of Ajax was reflected in the two code names it assigned the Shah, almost certainly without his knowledge. Was the Shah “Ralph” and our guy in Tehran? Or was he “No. 1” and the imperious Shahanshah to whom U.S. officials deferred for the next quarter century? The agency never could decide.


For the first fifteen years after the coup U.S. officials kept a close eye on Iran. Presidents Eisenhower, John F. Kennedy, and Johnson worried about the Shah’s propensity for diverting money toward the military rather than developing the country’s economy and infrastructure. They feared another social explosion unless poor Iranians saw their lives improve. Liberals were particularly skeptical of the Shah and of Iran’s future. At a closed-door session of the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations in June 1961 Senator Frank Church frankly shared his low opinion of the Shah. “I just think it is going to be a miracle if we save the Shah of Iran,” he said. “All I know about history says he is not long for this world, nor his system. And when he goes down, boom, we go with him.” Church’s colleague Hubert Humphrey voiced similar pessimism about the Pahlavis when he said, “they are dead. They just don’t know it. I don’t care what revolution it is. Somebody is going to get those fellows. They are out. It is just a matter of time.”


One of the main reasons for their concern was that during the Shah’s reign military expenditures never accounted for less than 23 percent and often up to one third of the national budget. The Johnson administration in particular was determined to hold the line on the Shah’s tendency to overspend on armaments. In the mid-1960s Washington erected a fiscal firewall to ensure that the Shah’s appetite for military equipment did not drain too much capital from Iran’s civilian economy. The firewall was named after General Hamilton Twitchell, who headed up the U.S. military mission to Iran. “The basis of the Twitchell Doctrine was that the Shah’s military procurement program should be completely coordinated with the training program, and only equipment come in that Iranians could operate and maintain,” said Ambassador Meyer, noting that at the time “there was a strong feeling in Washington that the Shah should not spend money on military equipment.” Controlling the flow of arms to Tehran “maintained our relationship,” he said. “Our whole relationship with the Shah, I think, depended on the military side of things. If we had left it to the Shah, during my days, the sky would have been the limit. He wanted everything . . . . I was always trying to talk him out of equipment.”


Keeping arms sales in check also helped Washington retain influence in Iran. Supplying the Shah with too many weapons might strengthen him to the point where he could pull away and pursue an independent foreign policy. “The Iranians were forced to go through an annual economic review,” recalled Meyer. “It was a rather humiliating thing for them to do, before they could buy—buy—fifty million dollars worth of military equipment.” The Shah, who always kept a wary eye on his northern border, was “a little annoyed” at having to do it but “he realized he had to do it to get the equipment. He wanted to stay with us, although he needled us by buying a few Russian trucks and things of that kind during that period.”


Even if a future president diluted or scrapped the Twitchell Doctrine, a secondary dike existed to block a potential flood of defense expenditures by the Shah. Following Operation Ajax the Eisenhower administration established a consortium of Western oil companies to manage the most lucrative 100,000 square miles of Iran’s oil fields. During the negotiations Ike sent Vice President Richard Nixon to Tehran to impress upon the reluctant Iranians the fact that economic aid would not resume until the foreign oil industry was allowed back in. British Petroleum eventually took a 40 percent stake in the new consortium and Royal Dutch Shell 14 percent. A second 40 percent stake went to Standard Oil (Esso), Socony Mobil Oil, Standard Oil (California), Gulf Oil, and Texas Oil Company (Texaco), the remainder parceled out to an agglomeration of U.S.-owned companies. As a face-saving gesture to the Shah the companies declared that “the oil assets belonged, in principle, to Iran.” Yet the members of the consortium split their profits fifty-fifty with the Iranian state and it was they and not the Shah who set crude oil prices and determined whether oil production would increase or decrease.


That Iran did not have full control over its own purse strings posed a problem for the Shah. The Pahlavi dynasty, Iranian economist Jahangir Amuzegar once observed, rested on “oily legs.” Oil was the Shah’s greatest source of strength and also his Achilles’ heel. Petroleum revenues gave the Pahlavi state its lustrous sheen of prosperity, not to mention its veneer of legitimacy. The Pahlavi elite understood that “oil revenues are the foundation on which the present system maintains its stability.” The thinking was that a rising tide of oil wealth would lift all boats, guarantee social stability, buy off and co-opt potential critics of the regime, and help avoid a repetition of the dangerous social and political unrest of recent times. By 1970, when oil revenues topped the billion-dollar mark for the first time, Iran’s prime minister boasted that “public revenues will permit us to expand the ordinary budget by 23% and the development budget by 30%.” Yet doubts persisted about the wisdom of relying so heavily on one stream of revenue to maintain political equilibrium and social harmony. What would happen if the tide of petroleum ran out or if, God forbid, oil revenues flatlined? The foundations of the Pahlavi state could be knocked out from under it. “His Majesty must see to it that oil revenues perpetually increase,” wrote Marvin Zonis. “Fortunately for his style of rule, he has been successful.”


To a great extent the dynasty’s survival depended on the Shah simultaneously increasing oil production and charging consumers in the West more for their oil. The oil companies were interested in profits and not politics. They resisted the Shah’s entreaties to increase output. The stage was set for round after round and year after year of punishing clashes between the Shah and the oil companies. The Shah gave hell to oil executives and Western ambassadors. One day in 1970 Britain’s ambassador telephoned the palace to offer the Shah advice on oil policy. The Shah was incensed. “The British advise me,” he exclaimed. “If they have the fucking audacity to advise me ever again, I shall fuck them so rigid that they’ll think twice before crossing my path in the future.”


The Shah’s frustration was understandable. One of the ironies of the post-coup oil arrangement was that the American oil majors had been reluctant to set up shop in Iran after Mossadegh was deposed. They viewed Iran as an unstable and risky investment. That they had gone in at all was due to the prodding of the Eisenhower administration, which wanted to deepen the American strategic interest in Iran. The companies were much more invested in the lower Gulf states of Saudi Arabia and Kuwait, where production costs were lower and profit margins higher. The petroleum they produced, “Arabian light,” was often referred to as “light and sweet” because its low sulfur content makes it easier to convert to gasoline. Iran’s mostly heavier grade fuel oil drew a lower price on the world market. Esso’s 7 percent stake in Iran’s oil consortium paled in comparison to its 30 percent share in Saudi Arabia’s national oil-producing company. Gulf Oil owned 50 percent of Kuwait’s national oil company but held only a 7 percent share in Iran’s consortium. Iran’s return to the market in 1954 meant the companies were forced to cut back production elsewhere in the Gulf to avoid glutting the market with cheap oil. Even then they secretly agreed to suppress production in Iran to hold up prices elsewhere. They did so in the knowledge that “any drop in production or sale of oil mean less revenue to Iran.”


There was natural tension between Iran and neighboring Saudi Arabia over oil production and pricing. The Shah wanted the smaller and weaker Gulf states to reduce their output so Iran could raise the revenues deemed necessary to defend the Gulf. He resented having to “bail out King Faisal’s defense budget, effectively making him our pensioner; the same King Faisal who complains about the undue concessions made to Iran the moment the oil companies begin to review quota allocations.” There were religious and cultural tensions, too, between the Persian Iranians, who spoke Farsi, and the Arabic-speaking Saudis. King Faisal’s old ways repulsed the Shah, who modeled his court along European lines. In 1971 he hosted a luncheon for the Saudi king at which he had endured the old man’s “absurd pronouncements” including the Saudi’s belief “that every Jew has a sworn duty to dunk his bread in the blood of a Moslem at least once a year.”


The Shah was at heart a Persian nationalist who shared the ambitions and imperial instincts of Cyrus the Great. The empire of his predecessors had at one time extended across the Gulf to include what was now Saudi Arabia’s Eastern Province, where the desert kingdom’s super-sized petroleum fields were located. There was perhaps more than a trace of wishful thinking to the Shah’s oft-stated belief that Saudi Arabia was “ripe for subversive activities” and that King Faisal was headed for “serious trouble.” The House of Saud’s future—or lack thereof as he saw it—fueled the Shah’s ambitions and constituted a major selling point in his campaign to convince the Nixon administration that only “a militarily strong Iran could safeguard the vital interests of the West in the Persian Gulf without the western powers having to intervene.”


A complicating factor in this awkward balancing act was the tacit acceptance by President Nixon and his national security adviser, Henry Kissinger, that the Shah could only assume the burden of defending their interests if Iran’s revenue stream expanded to generate the money to buy new advanced weapons systems, which in turn meant engineering modest increases in the price of oil and at regular intervals. What really worried Nixon and Kissinger was not the prospect of higher but lower oil prices. “It is not likely that the monarchies of Iran, Kuwait, Abu Dhabi, and Saudi Arabia would survive if petroleum prices fell,” argued one scholar whose views were shared by the White House. High oil prices were the necessary price of stability in the Middle East because conservative monarchies like Iran and Saudi Arabia were “least likely to force a confrontation over American support for Israel.” A greater share of oil revenues allowed pro-U.S. oil potentates to develop their economies while buying the weapons they needed to defend themselves and the free world’s oil supply.


The combination of General Twitchell’s firewall and the oil consortium gave Washington crucial leverage over the Shah, built the foundations for Iranian prosperity, and provided profits for the American oil industry. In 1969 Iran was hailed as a development success story as its economy reached the point of “take-off” when investment becomes self-renewing. Cheerful American diplomats in Tehran kept a chart on hand that showed Iran’s industrial production climbing at a 45 degree angle and “getting steeper all the time.” “The growth of the gross national product now going on is comparable only to that of Japan in the immediate postwar period, and is, with the exception of Libya, the fastest in the world—an average of 9.5 percent per year over the past five years and 11.3 percent over the last three of those years,” gushed The New York Times. “That’s about twice as fast as the United States,” the paper of record reminded its readers. It was a comparison that delighted the Shah.


THE PRESIDENT HAS A STRONG FEELING ABOUT THE SHAH


Eisenhower’s death gave President Nixon and the Shah their first opportunity in two years to talk in private. They had met several times in the 1950s when Nixon served as Eisenhower’s vice president. During Nixon’s years in the political wilderness in the 1960s they stayed in touch through Ardeshir Zahedi, son of General Fazlollah Zahedi, who commanded Iranian army units during the 1953 coup and led Iran’s post-coup military government. After the Shah forced Fazlollah Zahedi to step down from the premiership, the general retired to Switzerland. He left his son behind in Iran to continue the family tradition of service to the Persian crown. Ardeshir’s own personal proximity to the throne was cemented in 1957 with his marriage to Princess Shahnaz, the Shah’s daughter with his first wife, Princess Fawzia of Egypt. An indication of the trust the Shah placed in his son-in-law came in 1959 when he asked him to lead the search for a third wife. The Shah’s happy second marriage to Queen Soraya had ended in divorce because of Soraya’s failure to provide her husband with a son and heir. The Shah was anxious to continue the hereditary line and secure a stable succession. “It was Zahedi and Shahnaz who found a tall young Iranian girl, then studying architecture in Paris, whom they introduced to the shah,” wrote an Iranian historian. “Her name was Farah. It was in Zahedi’s home that the original meeting between the shah and his future queen took place.” The Shah’s marriage to Farah Diba took place the same year. Zahedi was rewarded for his loyalty with diplomatic postings in the 1960s as ambassador to Washington and London. By the time he was appointed Iran’s foreign minister in 1967 his marriage to Princess Shahnaz had ended in divorce.


Ardeshir Zahedi’s personal style as Iranian chief diplomat was distinctly undiplomatic. The new minister spoke freely, even to the Shah. He made no secret of his nationalist inclinations or his sympathies for the Arab cause, scolded Iran’s Western allies in public, and frequently threatened to resign if he did not get his way. The Shah indulged Zahedi as he might a hot-tempered, impetuous younger brother, even kicking him under the table at a diplomatic conference for an indiscreet remark. On one occasion, when the Shah was deep in conversation with Henry Kissinger, Zahedi arrived and hailed the American with a greeting that could most charitably be described as irreverent. The Shah muttered under his breath in Farsi, “Don’t create a problem, Ardeshir!”


Over the years, Ardeshir Zahedi compiled a formidable Rolodex of famous names ranging from Hollywood celebrities to heads of corporations and presidents, kings, queens, and prime ministers. As ambassador and foreign minister, Zahedi was especially attentive to the great men who ruled American public life during the Cold War and especially Republican politicians like Richard Nixon, Nelson Rockefeller, Barry Goldwater, and Ronald Reagan. He was a Nixon favorite, whom he once described with great feeling as “a great man.” After losing the California governor’s race in 1962 Nixon had walked away from politics and public life. Zahedi reached out to him and the two stayed in touch. One evening in early 1967, Zahedi joined Nixon and William Rogers, Eisenhower’s attorney general, for dinner at the “21” Club in Manhattan. Zahedi realized during the conversation that Nixon was planning a political comeback and meant to make a second run for the presidency. He returned to his suite at the Waldorf Towers and telephoned the Shah, who was on his annual ski vacation in St. Moritz.


In April, Nixon would be passing through Iran on his way home from a private fact-finding tour of the Near and Far East. Why not invite him to the palace for tea and a chat? The Shah, who closely followed American politics, knew that Nixon’s star had long since waned in Washington. He drolly asked his foreign minister how much he had had to drink at dinner that night. But Zahedi put his foot down. “And I got kind of mad and sent letters to the court and foreign ministry and to the Shah,” he remembered. “Everyone was against the Nixon visit to Tehran. I invited him. At that time the court minister [Asadollah Alam] and the prime minister [Amir Abbas Hoveyda] were against me.” They warned the Shah not to do or say anything that might antagonize President Lyndon Johnson, the Democrat who was gearing up for reelection in 1968. The Shah finally agreed to receive Nixon but only so long as the visit was billed as a courtesy call and not a formal discussion. In any event, Nixon’s 1967 visit to Tehran turned out to be much more than that.


The Shah would later refer fondly to his “long hours” of talks with Nixon at Niavaran Palace. What began as a friendly chat over tea in the late afternoon of April 22, 1967, turned into something much more substantial. The Shah and Nixon discovered they shared views on a range of foreign policy issues affecting their countries. After two hours, at 7:00 P.M. Zahedi drove Nixon back to his house, where they conversed again until four in the morning. “We talked about security, the Persian Gulf, the oil, about Soviet intrigues, about the British sometimes double-crossing us,” said Zahedi. “I briefed the Shah the next day. This was an off-the-record talk.” No notes were taken and U.S. ambassador Armin Meyer agreed to sit it out. “Nixon appreciated that and made Meyer ambassador to Japan after the election,” said Zahedi.


Nixon’s 1967 visit to Tehran and his talks with the Shah and Zahedi were a turning point for Nixon personally, for the future course of U.S. foreign policy, and for U.S.-Iran relations. Armin Meyer agreed that the Iranians left a deep impression on Nixon, who was looking for new ways to engage the United States in Asia. “In my judgement, the Nixon Doctrine germinated when Nixon visited Iran in 1967,” Meyer later confirmed. Nixon and the Shah agreed that it would be better for “our allies [to] take care of their own problems. Give them the equipment to do it. Why should American boys fight in Iran?” Nixon also left Iran more convinced than ever that right-wing authoritarian regimes like the Shah’s royal dictatorship should not be pressured to adopt Western concepts of democracy and human rights. Three months after he returned from Tehran, Nixon delivered a speech to the exclusive men’s club at the Bohemian Grove outside San Francisco. There he outlined a theme that later became the foreign policy benchmark of his presidency. After mentioning Iran as an economic success story, Nixon reminded his listeners that despite Iran’s lack of representative democracy “their system has worked for them. It is time for us to recognize that much as we like our own political system, American style democracy is not necessarily the best form of government for people in Asia, Africa and Latin America with entirely different backgrounds.”


Nixon never forgot the Shah’s hospitality or Foreign Minister Zahedi’s friendship. Later on in the White House he reminded his staff that when he was out of office only the Shah of Iran and President de Gaulle of France had opened their doors to him and treated him with the measure of courtesy and respect he felt he deserved. The first time he welcomed Zahedi to the White House as president it was with a rare hug and the greeting, “You’ve been a good friend.” The Nixon-Pahlavi relationship was based on a shared interest in grand strategy and geopolitics and a mutual fascination with power and its many uses. Nixon and the Shah were not friends in the traditional sense. Nixon had few if any true friends, and the reserved Shah, though he respected Nixon’s talents and loyalty, would have never deigned to accept the son of a gas station attendant and grocer from Whittier, California, as his social equal. They were essentially two lonely and insecure men who found relief in the isolation their high positions afforded. “If I take a liking to someone, I need only the smallest shred of doubt to make me break it off,” the Shah once said. “Friendship involves the exchange of confidence between two people, but a king can take no one into his confidence. I even observe certain distances with members of my family. I had to tell my mother, who is a very dictatorial woman, that it would be better if she didn’t ask me for favors, for I might have to refuse her.”


Richard Helms worked closely with both leaders over the years. He described speculation of a friendship between them as


one of those myths . . . . And I can promise you that in the case of Richard Nixon even in the United States of America he had no close friends or associates. And the Shah had no close friends or associates either. That kind of person doesn’t go in for that. Therefore, they were no “bosom buddies.” They simply saw an identity of interest. They were both good geopoliticians. They were pragmatic. And they made arrangements of mutual interest.


Even so, the Nixons and the Pahlavis enjoyed warm relations. Visitors to the Nixons’ homes in California and New York during their years in private life couldn’t help but notice the framed photograph of the Shah strategically placed behind Nixon’s desk or the Persian rugs. Nixon’s White House quarters boasted such treasures as a fourth-century Sassanian necklace, a 22 karat gold tray, two gold watches, a solid gold presentation box, and a clock with the words “Generation of Peace” inscribed inside.


The president’s sympathy and admiration for the Shah were obvious enough to make his advisers nervous about what Nixon might agree to do for Iran now that he was in the White House. “The President has a strong feeling about the Shah,” was how Henry Kissinger warily told a colleague. Nixon was well known for making decisions off the cuff based on a few jottings on a lined legal pad and maybe a cocktail or two after dinner. When it came to the Shah, Nixon went with his gut, and that was not necessarily a good thing.


While he was in Washington for Eisenhower’s funeral the Shah met with the president’s national security team. Two incidents stood out in his conversations with them. In talks with Secretary of State William Rogers on April 1, the day Ike’s body was taken across country to its final resting place in Abilene, Kansas, the Shah questioned American motives and specifically the wisdom of trusting an ally with a history of eating its young. He was referring to the American experience in Vietnam, where a half million GIs were mired in a seemingly intractable military stalemate. The Shah charged that the catalyst for the disaster had been the murder of South Vietnam’s president Ngo Dinh Diem during an American-sponsored coup d’état in 1963. Diem, protested the Shah, had been “a strong leader [who] was making some progress in combatting corruption” when he was overthrown. This bald accusation of American regicide against a client who bore more than a passing resemblance to the Shah was telling. Rogers politely challenged the Shah’s assertion that the United States had disposed of Ngo Dinh Diem but agreed that “the US should not interfere in the internal affairs of other countries.”


Later in the evening the Shah met with Kissinger at the Iranian embassy on Massachusetts Avenue. The Shah was joined by Iran’s ambassador to the United States, Hushang Ansary. During a discussion of Soviet ambitions in the Middle East the Shah made the case for one-man rule. He told Kissinger that Stalin’s foreign policy had at least offered a measure of stability and assurance to the West in comparison to the “more venturesome” foreign policy followed by his Politburo heirs, who had adopted a consensual approach to policy making. Kissinger, a German-born Jew who had escaped Nazi Germany as a teenager and who lost many relatives in the Holocaust, said he “agreed generally” with the Shah’s point about the merits of dictatorial government although there were “some exceptions such as Hitler where one-man rule proved highly dangerous.” But the Shah demurred and insisted that “where one man ruled, he is normally more cautious.”


Mohammad Reza Shah’s reference to Ngo Dinh Diem hinted at his basic distrust of the Americans. By trumpeting the virtues of one-man rule, the Shah was making it plain that the days of Eisenhower, Kennedy, and Johnson were over—from now on he, and not the American president, would call the shots in Iran. If there was going to be a relationship, it would have to be between equals. The Shah also dangled a carrot. He offered Kissinger a secret deal to sell the United States one million barrels of oil a day over the next ten years at the discounted price of $1.00 for each barrel. He sensibly proposed that the United States put the oil away in case of a future emergency like a cutoff in the oil supply. But the timing was not right. In March 1959 the Eisenhower administration had imposed mandatory quotas on the amount of foreign petroleum that could be imported into the United States. The quotas were meant to protect the domestic American oil industry from foreign competition and to ensure that the United States never became too dependent on a single supplier of foreign oil. The Shah’s offer to sell such a vast amount of oil at a reduced price showed that he was eager to increase America’s economic reliance on Iranian crude.


On April 3, 1969, hours after the Shah’s departure from Washington for Tehran, the National Security Council Group for the Near East and South Asia met to consider the issue of arms sales to Iran. It recognized that the Shah was stretching his legs and testing the new administration. This was to be expected. On the one hand, officials recommended a $100 million extension in military credits to Iran and the sale of two additional squadrons of F-4 fighter planes. But they noted that “although Iran’s economic progress has been rapid, certain warning signs have developed” with a “decline in foreign exchange reserves, a growing debt service ratio, a substantial and rapid increase in budget outlay for military purposes, and a fairly static situation in agricultural output.” The group agreed that “the key question is whether the increase in Iran’s income from oil will keep pace with the shah’s demands and Iran’s expenditures.” They also agreed that the annual U.S.-Iran review of Iran’s economy “should continue to be a key part of our consideration of Iran’s military purchases from the United States.”


Secretary of State Rogers reinforced this cautionary approach in a memo he sent to the National Security Council and which Kissinger in turn forwarded to Nixon for review. In the first two years of Nixon’s presidency it was Rogers and not Kissinger who determined the parameters of administration policy toward Iran. “The general issue since this [arms sales] program began has been its effect on Iran’s economy,” read the memo. “So far it has proved financially manageable, but Iran’s future soundness is still fragile, depending as it does on the continued flow of oil revenues at a high level.” President Nixon had been informed—and not for the last time—that Iran was hard-pressed to pay for even current levels of defense expenditures. Rogers cautioned that the only way for the pace of expenditures to keep up would be if Iran’s oil revenues increased, and they did not want that to happen.


The Shah had also been warned. A few weeks earlier Court Minister Alam informed him that Iran’s treasury was almost empty. Expenses on giant investment projects such as a gas pipeline that swallowed $650 million against an initial estimate of $350 million. “Briefed HIM on recent developments and raised a few points which upset him,” wrote Alam in his diary. “I told him that the country is disturbed by the sudden doubling of water prices, that the asphalt in the streets is falling apart, that corruption by the Customs men is on the increase, that bank credits are being squeezed and that various businesses are heading towards bankruptcy. Finally I warned him of the financial crisis in the universities.” The Shah, who did not like to hear bad news, lost his temper and snapped, “What can we do when there’s no money coming in?”


THE GIANT POKER GAME


On the crisp fall evening of October 21, 1969, President and Mrs. Nixon walked out onto the Front Portico of the White House to welcome the emperor of Iran back to Washington. Just six months after President Eisenhower’s funeral observances, the Shah had returned for a state visit. Pat Nixon used the occasion to kick off the fall social season in the nation’s capital. The Shah was traveling alone. The official reason given for Queen Farah’s absence was that she was expecting the couple’s fourth child. This was only partly true. Her visit to the Kennedy White House seven years earlier remained “a traumatic event in my memory.” Anti-Shah protesters—young Iranians studying abroad—had hounded the couple at every turn, protesting against the perceived influence of the CIA in Iran and in support of democracy and human rights: “They were everywhere, sometimes within a few yards of us, to the point where my husband had to strain his voice when he needed to speak. We heard them shouting from morning till night, even below our windows in the hotel.” The queen, who chain-smoked and suffered from anxiety, had been badly shaken. She was appalled by the laxity of American security arrangements. “A few years later I refused to accompany my husband on an official visit there,” she said. She indignantly told him, “If I go there only to be insulted again, I would be of much more use here in Tehran.”


Among the 105 guests enjoying the sumptuous festivities were Kermit Roosevelt, Donald Rumsfeld of the Office of Economic Opportunity, National Security Adviser Henry Kissinger, Ambassador to Iran Douglas Mac-Arthur II, and Herbert Brownell, the attorney general under Eisenhower. The guests listened as the president and the Shah lavished praise on each other. Nixon went first. He expressed “love and affection and admiration” for Iran and declared that when he first visited Iran in 1953 the Shah “made a very deep impression on me and on my wife at that time.” He quoted the Persian philosopher poet Omar Khayyám, who “referred eloquently to the ability of a leader, a great leader, to heed the roll of distant drums. His Majesty has that ability.” And he lauded Iran as “one of the strongest, the proudest among all the nations in the world.” In response, the Shah said he was “overwhelmed by the warmth of your sentiments which could only come from a true friend, someone who is sharing your problems and someone who is understanding of your problems . . . . I personally will always remember the long hours we spent together in 1967.”


The Shah’s state visit came in the midst of his latest fight with the oil consortium. The year before, Iran’s government had announced a five-year $11 billion economic development plan to be financed mainly from oil revenues. If Iran was going to meet the plan’s spending targets, the oil companies would have to boost their output by 20 percent a year for each of the next five years. This they refused to do. What ensued was “a giant poker game,” though a more appropriate analogy might be a game of chicken. The Shah had approved a five-year budget knowing that his government lacked the income to meet its objectives. The fiscal commitments he approved could be paid for only with anticipated or future oil revenues. The Shah would have to hike oil prices to generate the revenue. He had no scruples when it came to the oil industry. Alam’s diary suggests that the Shah bankrolled Kurdish guerrillas in neighboring Iraq to blow up oil pipelines in order to cut Baghdad’s revenue stream and stampede foreign petroleum investment to Iran. In foreign affairs as in domestic politics, the Shah’s brinkmanship was driven by a self-perpetuating money chase.


In the weeks preceding the Iranian state visit, briefing papers flew back and forth across the Potomac warning that the Shah wanted to end the Twitchell Doctrine. White House aides frankly worried that President Nixon would be out-negotiated in his private talks with the Shah. Unlike Nixon, who couldn’t be bothered reading his own daily intelligence briefs from the CIA and who loathed hearing from those “impossible fags” at the State Department, the Shah was a voracious reader and meticulous student of strategy and military affairs who always seemed to know more than anyone else in the room. He had a history of correcting the Pentagon’s top brass when they talked about weapons systems that were still on the drawing board. Nixon squirmed to avoid personal confrontations and had a propensity for buckling under pressure.


On October 6, 1969, Embassy Tehran let the White House know that the Shah was looking for ways to jack up Iran’s oil production as a means of raising fast money: “The Shah is in dead earnest in his quest for additional oil revenues, and Iran’s current tight foreign exchange situation has added urgency to problem.” The Shah expected President Nixon to intervene in his favor with the oil consortium and “nudge oil companies to take his regional responsibilities as well as commercial considerations into account in their negotiations and that we will be sympathetic regarding any barter deals for military equipment that he may be able to work out within current import quota system.” And if that didn’t work, he was peddling a new variant of his proposal earlier in the year for the administration to agree to buy discounted Iranian oil in violation of the 1959 oil import quota law.


The Shah had been sold on the idea by Herbert Brownell, who now represented a company called Planet Oil and Minerals. In his former capacity as President Eisenhower’s attorney general, Brownell was more than familiar with existing U.S. law as it related to foreign oil imports. His plan called for the administration to give Planet Oil license to import 200,000 barrels of oil a day from Iran. Planet would buy the oil for distribution in the United States “and Iran would use the proceeds only for Iranian purchases in the US.” A barrel of oil that would normally cost the United States $1.80 would be marked down by a dollar to just 80 cents. The Shah proposed that the United States use this oil to create a strategic reserve in the event of an emergency such as an oil embargo. The Brownell deal, like the million-barrel-a-day scheme, was shelved. Nixon was cautioned by his staff that “there have been some scandals involving oil allocation decisions in the recent past. The press had not fully exploited those scandals, but I’m sure would put the worst possible interpretation on any decisions by this Administration that might be of substantial benefit to one of Mr. Brownell’s clients.”


The presence of Kim Roosevelt and Herb Brownell at the state banquet was a reminder of the Shah’s close ties with former members of the Eisenhower administration, of whom Richard Nixon was the most prominent. When it came to Iran, Washington’s dividing lines between power, money, and access were often blurred. Since helping pull off the 1953 coup, Roosevelt had become an international arms broker working for the defense contractor Northrop. His two biggest clients were Mohammad Reza Shah of Iran and King Faisal of Saudi Arabia. The Shah flew to New York before heading down to Washington, and his schedule for October 18 shows that he met with Roosevelt and Tom Jones, Northrop’s president, in the morning.


In advance of the president’s meetings with the Shah, the State Department’s Bureau of Intelligence and Research warned that giving in to the Shah’s demands would inevitably lead to a decline in American influence over the Shah because “growing Iranian independence could result in less reliance on US support and less attention to American advice, especially on regional matters . . . . The Shah is convinced that Iran must play the dominant role in the Persian Gulf and he is determined that radical Arab or Soviet influence should be prevented, or at least kept to an innocuous level.” The State Department believed that the Shah was exaggerating security threats to Iran in order to extract from the White House permission to raise oil prices and buy more arms. It had required a “major US effort” in recent years to make sure that the Shah’s arms purchases from the United States do “not become a severe strain on Iran’s economic development.” But, according to the State Department, the Shah appears “determined to follow this course” even though “sharply rising military expenditures cannot but cause problems for Iran internally by hindering its development plans and externally by perhaps alarming and alienating its weaker Arab neighbors.”


The Department of Defense did not stay quiet either. Secretary of Defense Melvin Laird, a former congressman and canny political operator, advised against sending U.S. Air Force technicians or “blue suiters” to Iran to maintain the Shah’s fleet of new F-4 fighter planes. He wanted civilian contractors sent instead to avoid “deepening the involvement of US military personnel in Iran.” During a recent clash between Iranian and Iraqi forces over border boundaries on the Shatt al-Arab waterway the Shah had requested that uniformed American personnel be deployed to a forward base in western Iran to provide backup. The Pentagon had been alarmed by the brazen nature of this request and concluded that the Shah was goading Iraqi leaders even at the risk of triggering a war. Laird declared himself “concerned about the implications of that sort of involvement” for United States ground forces, arguing that it had echoes of the sort of creeping escalation that lured America into Vietnam. The Shah’s request for military support, if it became public, would hurt U.S.-Iran relations and arouse “serious Congressional opposition.” He reminded the White House that the whole point of the Nixon Doctrine was to arm and train America’s allies to defend themselves. When informed that American military personnel would not be allowed to move into western Iran, the Shah did not try to hide his disappointment—or his sense of entitlement: “What is the use of friendship if it is not good when [the] chips are down?”


Kissinger’s aides worried that Nixon would give away the store when he was alone with the Shah. “Although we have suggested that the President try to steer clear of details of the Shah’s military and oil proposals, the Shah has a way of pressing hard for answers,” read one memo. “If the going gets heavy, the President may ask you on the spot what can be done or ask you to talk to Secretary Laird.” But the president had also scheduled several twenty- to twenty-five-minute tête-à-têtes in which no one else would be present to offer help. Kissinger reminded Nixon that the Shah “is a persistent bargainer and he will read any generally sympathetic answer as assent. Precise and frank talk about how far the US can and cannot go is important in avoiding later miscommunications.” Even telling the Shah that “we will consider” his requests was likely to be read by the king as “a promise to consider favorably. To avoid unpleasant misunderstandings, it is best where possible to say exactly how we will handle his requests, explaining where necessary why it is not possible to give a final answer immediately.”


The Nixons welcomed their guest on to the grounds of the White House at 10:30 A.M. on Tuesday, October 21, 1969. The two leaders retreated to the Oval Office for a private meeting that lasted an hour and forty minutes. After meeting with Nixon, the Shah declared the president to have an “excellent understanding of Iran, its problems and its achievements.” He told the White House staff that Nixon had promised to boost Iran’s income from oil by either granting Iran its own special oil quota or by placing pressure on the oil consortium to increase production of oil in Iran. No mention was made of trying to close Iran’s financial hole. Nixon had apparently agreed to do everything that his aides had advised him not to do.


The Shah pledged to spend every penny he earned from the additional oil revenues on American military and intelligence equipment. He confidently informed administration officials that if Iran was to defend itself and Western interests in the Persian Gulf, its armed forces would have to acquire “an overkill capability so that should anyone be tempted to attack Iran they would think twice or three times.” What the Shah was proposing amounted to a massive new undertaking that would cost hundreds of millions, perhaps even billions, of dollars in new arms purchases. In private, Nixon’s national security aides expressed concern. It was one thing to fly the flag for the West in the Persian Gulf, another entirely to outfit Iran’s military to the point where it could face down Iraq and India, crush regional rebellions, and pacify not only the Persian Gulf but a vast swath of the Middle East and the Indian Ocean. Rearmament on the scale proposed by the Shah had the potential to bankrupt Iran. It would certainly divert precious capital, technology, and trained personnel from popular domestic programs intended to buttress the shaky pillars of the Shah’s Pahlavi dynasty.


The real bombshell landed after Mohammad Reza Shah’s farewell meeting with Nixon at 10:45 A.M. on Thursday, October 23. The Iranian cheerfully exited the Oval Office to inform a startled Ambassador MacArthur that he and the president had talked about “the problem of strengthening and equipping Iran’s armed forces.” The Shah was “under the impression that there were no problems of any kind, and that he could now obtain virtually anything that he wanted in the way of military equipment.” The ambassador knew that no American ally—not Great Britain, not West Germany, not Israel—enjoyed blank check privileges. The Pentagon would never stand for it. MacArthur suggested there had been a misunderstanding: “So I said to him, If you have that impression, there’s no point going back to Tehran and having any misunderstandings. I think you ought to clarify with the President, since you got the impression from your private talk with the President.” When he returned to Tehran, MacArthur made a point of raising the issue with the Shah. Did he and Nixon get things straightened out? “He said no; he hadn’t wanted to bring it up; the atmosphere had been so good; everything was going so well that he hadn’t wanted to get back, at his last little meeting with the President just before he was leaving to return to Tehran, he hadn’t wanted to get down into the details and so forth.”


The White House staff spent the next few months trying to fathom the extent of Nixon’s verbal commitments. On October 23, Kissinger telephoned Laird to tell him that the president “didn’t completely promise, but he indicated” that he was in favor of a request from the Shah to increase the number of training slots open to Iranian air force pilots in the United States. The Shah also wanted the Air Force to send over more blue suiters to work with his pilots in Iran, something the Defense Department had expressly opposed. When an exasperated Laird replied that the United States had its own shortage of technicians, Kissinger told him that Nixon was anxious to show that the Shah “got something out of his meetings here.”


MacArthur was rattled when the Shah told him that Nixon had given him his personal guarantee that “a way will be found to permit Iran to increase its oil exports to the United States and that [the Iranians] are counting heavily on alleged Presidential assurances to the Shah, given during his October state visit.” This was a real problem because Nixon’s own cabinet task force reviewing oil import quotas was about to come out publicly against granting special exemptions to individual countries such as Iran. “Predictably, the Shah will be sharply disappointed if these recommendations become US policy,” the State Department chided Kissinger. An aide to Secretary of State Rogers made a tartly worded request for additional information from the White House: “As there is no written record of the President’s conversations with the Shah we find it difficult to assess the Shah’s present expectations. We would appreciate it if you could shed light on this critical point.”


Nixon was thus forced to backtrack on the promises he made to the Shah on Iranian oil production output and U.S. imports of Persian crude. He plaintively wrote: “There are, as you know, limits on what we as a government can do, and I cannot report any breakthroughs at this point.” Meanwhile, the Shah’s badgering of MacArthur sent the envoy into a panic. If Washington did not extend more military credits to Iran “we should have no—repeat no—doubt that result will be major crisis and end of special relationship Shah feels for us.” The panicky communication was typical: the sky was always about to fall in Tehran. MacArthur reminded his colleagues in Washington that the “special relationship” with the Shah had resulted in “special privileges and facilities for us,” a reference to CIA listening posts built along Iran’s northern border with the Soviet Union.


The top brass at the Pentagon refused to budge. “The Shah continues to play hard on the same themes with us,” was how Kissinger relayed the views of General Earle Wheeler, chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, to Nixon. “He seems in fact to be testing the limits of our capacity to help him.” Wheeler opposed the sale of four additional squadrons of F-4s to Iran because the Iranians “would have trouble digesting all of the equipment they have in mind” to purchase. They lacked the pilots to fly the planes and the specially trained personnel to maintain them. The Shah also wanted thirty-six additional C-130 transportation planes. He had told Wheeler that he needed to be able to move his troops around “threatened areas.” Wheeler suspected the Shah was building a contingency plan to move large amounts of troops into Saudi Arabia “should the need arise.” He knocked down MacArthur’s canard that if the United States refused to sell arms to Iran the Shah would turn elsewhere, perhaps buying French or even Soviet weapons. The Iranian armed forces were too integrated into the American defense structure, France was an unreliable supplier of military spare parts, and the Shah would never allow Soviet trainers or personnel in Iran. Wheeler suggested that the Shah was a hypocrite for pressing the oil consortium to boost Iranian oil production when Iran had recently lashed the government of Kuwait for doing the exact same thing.


In October 1970 Secretary Laird bluntly informed his colleague Rogers over at State that the Shah’s request for another four squadrons of F-4s crossed the line. The Shah had more than enough planes to defend Iran. His purchases would only prompt neighboring Iraq to turn closer to the Soviet Union and accelerate a regional arms race that could destabilize the entire Persian Gulf. It would place severe strains on Iran’s economy and manpower. “There is little question that the Shah will be unhappy over our unwillingness to sell him all that he wants,” warned Laird. “Nonetheless, I consider the course he follows to be inimical to Iran’s interests and our own, and I think the time has come to talk bluntly with him about arms stability in the Persian Gulf area, as well as the excessive monetary and personnel costs which these programs would entail.” Laird’s deputy secretary, David Packard, implicitly rebuked MacArthur when he pointed out to the ambassador that the Shah did not appear to have a sound grasp of “the unique nature of Tehran’s special relationship with the United States” as partner and ally. Yet even as Wheeler, Laird, and Rogers held the line, they were being undermined by the CIA and its director, Richard Helms, and by a sympathetic Henry Kissinger.


MR. HELMS INSISTS


During the Shah’s 1969 state visit, “No. 1” had enjoyed a long breakfast with CIA director Richard Helms in the upstairs study of Blair House, the residence across the street from the White House where the Iranian monarch was quartered. Helms had met Mohammad Reza Shah for the first time in 1957 when he traveled to Tehran to negotiate the installation of a CIA radar station on Iranian soil to monitor Russian missile-testing ranges across the border in Soviet Kazakhstan. “He agreed that he would sponsor it, and what he decided to do was to make the installation an Iranian Air Force installation, have the Iranian flag fly over it, and then have the Americans do the work there under the guise of advisors and consultants to the Iranian Air Force,” Helms recalled. A second base was established in the 1960s. The CIA regarded the posts as essential in its efforts to give the United States an edge in missile superiority and to verify Soviet compliance with arms accords. Helms had an indirect personal connection to the Shah through his younger brother, Pearsall, who had been in school with Crown Prince Mohammad Reza Pahlavi at Le Rosey in Switzerland in the 1930s. Every time the Shah came to Washington he received Dick Helms. In addition to briefing the Shah on intelligence matters, the director thanked the Shah for permitting construction of additional CIA facilities along Iran’s Persian Gulf coast. According to Helms’s notes from the 1969 meeting, “The Shah nodded his head, expressed his interest in the project, then went on to say that as long as we are not interested in having USA shining in neon lights on our installations, he is prepared to have us locate in Iran almost any kind of technical collection we desire.”


This was music to Helms’s ears. Documents show that it was Helms who repeatedly and decisively intervened on the Shah’s side in the debate over arms sales. Like Wheeler, Laird, and Rogers, Helms frankly dismissed the strategic logic behind the Shah’s military buildup. He confessed that the king’s arguments were easily rejected “on grounds of cost, lack of urgency, limited capability, undesirable precedent and other arguments.” But to Helms that was all beside the point when a much bigger prize existed in the form of the CIA spy bases. Iran hosted intelligence facilities “vital to our national security.” With Afghanistan barely a functioning state and no longer politically feasible as an alternative center for espionage against the Soviet Union, “there is no place to which we could transfer these activities were Iran denied us . . . . The [facilities] are entirely dependent on the continued willingness of the Shah to permit them to operate and to transmit promptly the information they collect.”


Echoing Helms’s sentiment in a memo dated April 16, 1970, Kissinger praised Iran to Nixon as an “island of stability.” He concurred with Helms that “there seems little reason not to give the Shah whatever he wants.” This recommendation came even after he noted that the main argument against extending military credits to Iran had been to keep Iran’s debt burden “within safe limits.” It was an undeniable fact that the Shah had gone on a spending binge. Iran’s debt service costs “are already high,” observed Kissinger. But it was equally “difficult, of course, to say what is too high; what can be said is that the level is high enough to be cause for concern in Iran as well as here about raising it much higher . . . . The problem arises as he pushes the limits of his resources and ours. He is understandably a man in a hurry who will press all resources available to their limits.” Kissinger also recited Helms’s opinion that “there is room to question whether the direct military threat to Iran from the Persian Gulf is as great as the Shah fears.”


One month later, at 3:00 P.M. on May 14, President Nixon welcomed to the White House foreign ministers in town for a meeting of the Central Treaty Organization, CENTO, the alliance of anti-communist “northern tier” countries: Iran, Pakistan, Turkey, and Great Britain. At the end of the formal discussions he beckoned Ardeshir Zahedi into a small room off the Oval Office. He wanted the foreign minister to pass on a message to the Shah. Nixon’s subsequent remarks suggested he was fed up with the bureaucratic wrangling over arms sales. He wanted to do something for the Shah and short-circuit Laird and Wheeler. After discussing Iran’s cash flow problems, and the Shah’s desire to generate higher oil revenues, Nixon made a remarkable and decisive intervention. “Tell the Shah you can push [us] as much as you want [on oil prices],” he told Foreign Minister Zahedi. “As long as you make this money for the good of the Iranian people and the progress of Iran [then] I will back you.” This was the news the Shah had been longing to hear, that he could raise oil prices at will and finally bring pressure to bear against Western oil companies and oil consumers. Better still, he could do so secure in the knowledge that he had the backing of the White House. The president was letting him know that he would support in private what he might be obliged to oppose in public. It is an extraordinary fact that Nixon’s back channel on an issue of such critical importance to the American and world economy was apparently made without benefit of any sort of cost assessment or risk analysis. It evidently did not occur to Nixon that he had placed in the hands of the Iranian leader the power to redistribute national wealth from the industrialized West to the oil kings of the Middle East. That the American way of life was built on a fragile foundation of affordable energy seemed to have eluded him.


Nixon’s aides were oblivious to his intervention and continued to debate the merits of lifting restrictions on arms sales to Iran. During one briefing in Washington Ambassador MacArthur assured skeptical colleagues from the departments of State and Defense that “he was not suggesting that we give Iran a blank check to buy whatever it wished from the United States, but [he] wished to stress that in his view it might be preferable for us to cede to a sale.” The ambassador’s view was that the more arms the administration sold to Iran the more dependent Iran would be on the United States as an arms supplier. “Are we not in a better position to limit the arms race more effectively through our influence over the Shah than by his exercising his freedom to purchase what he wants from other suppliers?” he told the gathering. He was apparently unaware of General Wheeler’s contention that no other country had the ability to replace the United States as Iran’s most important arms supplier. When asked if he “was not concerned with the impact of Iran’s military purchases on the [Iranian economy] over the next five years,” MacArthur said he was not. Iran’s credit was indeed tight, he noted, which was why he supported a mix of credit and cash sales.


In September 1970 Helms again struck hard against the Defense Department when he lobbied Kissinger to kill off a study begun to assess the military threat facing Iran. Helms correctly saw this as nothing but a stalling tactic by the Pentagon brass. He told Kissinger it was just the sort of thing to irritate the Shah and put at risk the CIA investment in Iran. He reminded Kissinger that the future of U.S. electronics eavesdropping along the Soviet Union’s southern border “rests very directly on the Shah’s support.” Failure by the administration to cooperate with the Shah would lead to “increased pressure on oil interests, and possibly termination of US special facilities [i.e., spy bases] and military overflight rights.”


Remarkably, Helms was pleading a case that his own analysts opposed in private. It was another sign of the dysfunction that epitomized American national security policy toward Iran. A study of data collected from the American military mission in Tehran found that the Iranians were buying “exotic equipment which they are not prepared to use and, in many instances, cannot afford to purchase.” An even more remarkable study from 1971 linked weapons purchases with future financial collapse. “We don’t know just how keenly the Shah appreciates the limits of financial elasticity,” wrote the CIA’s Office of National Estimates. It was an eerie and remarkably prescient analysis of the shock that awaited Iran. Although Iranian oil revenues had risen in recent years and contributed to a general sense of prosperity, they couldn’t keep pace with the Shah’s spending and “presently planned total expenditures are far larger than projected revenues.” The Shah was digging himself—and his country—into a pit of debt. “At some point in the next several years, Iran will have to make painful choices as between military hardware and development priorities. Decisions would not require scaling down the military expenditures so much as restraining its growth. On past form, the Shah will only ease off on military expenditures after several prophets of doom have sounded Iran’s economic death-knell, but before disaster has actually set in.”


Behind the public cover of state banquets, eloquent toasts, and joint military exercises, what had once been a convenient patron-client relationship was beginning to resemble a straitjacket for two. It became even tighter when at the end of 1970 the issue of military credits was resolved in favor of Iran making cash sales for its purchases of U.S. arms. Then in November, President Nixon decided that henceforth U.S. strategic policy in the Persian Gulf would rest on a strong Iran supported by Saudi Arabia in a clearly subservient and secondary role. This became known as the “Twin Pillars” policy.


HE RUNS A DAMN TIGHT SHOP, RIGHT?


At 3:56 on the afternoon of April 8, 1971, President Nixon welcomed Ambassador MacArthur back to the White House. They were joined by General Alexander Haig, Kissinger’s deputy. Photographs were taken, small talk was exchanged, and the ambassador had just settled in when the president got straight to the point. With less than six months to go before the British evacuated the Gulf, Nixon was hearing from the Pentagon that Iran still wasn’t up to the job of taking over regional defense responsibilities. He said he was “stronger than a horseradish” for the Shah. But he needed to know: “Are they capable of it?” Melvin Laird and the generals were telling him, “Well, the Shah just hasn’t got the stuff, is that right Al? Isn’t that what we find? They don’t think—they just don’t think he’s got the stroke to do it.”


“There is a feeling, yes sir,” Haig answered. “That he can’t do it all the way.”


“If he could do it, it’d be wonderful because he’s our friend, right?” said Nixon.


“Yes sir,” replied MacArthur. “Absolutely.”


“He runs a damn tight shop, right?” inquired the president.


“He does,” said MacArthur. “Your influence on him is extraordinary. He said to me—I’ve got a very good relationship with him, he said, he talks quite frankly, he said, ‘You know, I admire your President. He understands the international world and this part of the world much better than either of his predecessors [Presidents Kennedy and Johnson].’ He said, ‘They really didn’t understand the Middle East at all, with all its complexities.’ ”


Sixty-two-year-old MacArthur was the nephew and namesake of World War II and Korean War commander General Douglas MacArthur. Before taking up his post as ambassador to Tehran in September 1969, MacArthur had served as America’s top diplomat in Japan, Belgium, and Austria. MacArthur’s staff worried about his tendency to wilt in the Shah’s presence. One former colleague recalled that the ambassador was “scared stiff” of the Shah. MacArthur’s flattery and obsequious behavior was duly noted by Iranian courtiers. Douglas MacArthur had once even gone so far as to help cover up an attempt on his own life lest it cause the Shah embarrassment.


On the evening of November 30, 1970, the ambassador’s Cadillac was ambushed by gunmen firing at point-blank range only a few hundred meters from the gates of the American embassy. “These boys opened fire, but we brushed the car aside,” MacArthur later recalled. “They shot the windows out of the car. One of them had an axe, obviously to attack the window if I tried to lock myself in. They threw the axe. It hit me in the arm.” The cover-up began almost immediately. “I am particularly anxious that this matter be treated publicly in way which will not repeat nor embarrass GOI [Government of Iran],” he cabled the State Department. “Accordingly, Court Minister Alam (after consultations with Shah and Prime Minister Hoveyda) and I have agreed that we will volunteer no statement about incident but if we are queried response will be that while returning to residence from a dinner last evening our car was sideswiped by a hit-and-run driver who was proceeding at a high rate of speed and that car suffered broken window and some other damage but nobody hurt. We can not speculate on whether accident was deliberate or part of hit-and-run driver or simply result of very bad driving for which Iran is known.” The cover story concocted by the Shah, Alam, and MacArthur beggared belief. The embassy’s guards had seen the Cadillac hurtling through the gates the night before with everyone inside in a state of panic, its windows shot out, and its windshield shattered. Mechanics at the embassy motor pool had found a bullet lodged in a rear door frame. An axe had struck the ambassador in the arm. What did people think had happened?


Four months later in the White House, Nixon asked MacArthur if perhaps the Shah might not be “thinking too big,” in effect taking on more than Iran could handle. MacArthur didn’t disagree. “Well, he may be thinking a bit big,” he agreed. “But I can’t say that—what we’re trying to do is get him to program. To get him—you know, instead of just sort of saying, ‘I need this, I need that, I need the other thing.’ Because if you say, ‘you don’t need this thing,’ it’s through the roof.”


“Sure,” grunted Nixon. Hell, he had gone through the roof himself from time to time.


MacArthur said that to avoid upsetting the Shah he had not talked with him about the costs that would be associated with Iran’s military buildup or “the infrastructure that’s needed to support them. And then very important, the personnel that you have and will need to marry them and cost the whole thing. And that this serves the basis for identifying priorities and developing a five-year plan.” What the ambassador said he was doing instead was working with U.S. government officials to secure a new line of credit for the Shah to make all the purchases he felt he needed to get the job done.


Nixon loved what MacArthur was telling him. Getting the job done was what counted. Screw the red tape and the experts. “Whenever they send anything in here that I can sign, I do,” he said. “He should know that.” The president said he had had to overrule the State Department a couple of times “on the damn things,” but the fact remained that when it came to the Shah and Iran, “I like him, I like him and I like his country. And some of those other bastards out there I don’t like, right?”


“Right,” repeated MacArthur. He reminded the president that Iran was America’s only natural ally between Japan and Europe. “And, Mr. President, between Japan, NATO, and Europe, it’s the only building block we’ve got that is strong, that is sound, that is aggressive, and that above all regards us as just about its firmest friend. Elsewhere we’re trying to shore up weaknesses and it’s a problem.” The ambassador was haunted by a remark made by Joseph Luns, the Dutch foreign minister and future NATO secretary general. MacArthur once asked Luns what he thought would happen if European nations were faced with the choice between a cutoff of their Persian Gulf oil supplies and caving in to blackmail from oil producers. Luns offered a grim prognosis: “I fear that Western Europe would have no choice but to reach some form of an accommodation, because the alternative would be a total collapse of its economy and its national life.”


When Richard Nixon looked out at the world from the White House in April 1971 he had little to cheer about—with the possible exception of Iran. Elsewhere in Asia, “the Philippines is a can of worms,” and “Burma’s always in a mess. Always will be. And you know the Burmese, they just chew that weed. That black tea.” Pakistan was going to hell. Iran somehow comfortably straddled different worlds. “But the point is, that by God if we can go with them, and we can have them strong, and they’re in the center of it, and a friend of the United States, I couldn’t agree more—that’s something. ’Cause it just happens that, who else do we have except for Europe? The Southern Mediterranean, it’s all gone,” he mused. “Morocco, Christ, they can’t last,” neither can “all the little miserable countries around—Jordan and Lebanon and the rest. They’re like—they go down like ten pins, just like that.”


Unlike every other Muslim country in the Middle East, Iran maintained unofficial but close relations with Israel and didn’t punish the United States for supporting the Jewish state. The Shah was “awfully good on that subject,” affirmed Nixon. The Shah saw Iran and Israel as natural allies in the region, outsiders in an Arab sea, two bastions of tolerance, moderation, and anti-Communism with overlapping strategic interests. “Both our countries, Israel on one side, and Iran on the other, are confronted by a radical Arab nationalism and expansionism,” explained an Iranian official to the Associated Press in 1969. Israel’s unofficial representative in Tehran—no one liked to use the word “ambassador”—worked out of the Israeli trade mission, an unmarked and heavily secured compound located at 5 Takht-e Jamshid Avenue, near the American embassy. The Shah took great pride in protecting Iran’s religious and ethnic minorities, particularly the sixty thousand Iranian Jews who had chosen to stay on after Israel was established in 1948. Their community, one of the most ancient Jewish entities, had ties with the Persians going back to biblical times.


By 1970, about $40 million worth of Iranian oil was exported to Israel every year. The Shah made the somewhat specious claim that the sale of oil to Israel was a business arrangement worked out with the oil consortium that had nothing to do with his government. Yet Tehran’s newest supermarket sold Israeli food and publications, and Hebrew-language literature was openly sold in bookstores and at newsstands. In a country that loved cinema—Tehran boasted eighty movie houses—Israeli nationals ran three of the four biggest film distribution companies. Israel’s state airline, El Al, flew two regularly scheduled flights each week between Tel Aviv and Tehran, flying over Turkey to avoid Arab airspace. Israeli engineers and advisers, meanwhile, were helping their Iranian counterparts dig deep water wells in Qazvin north of Tehran and irrigate farmland on the southern slopes of the Elburz Mountains. Iran’s Jewish community and Israel were on the front lines of the Shah’s crusade to modernize Iran and eliminate clerical influence.


The Shah’s conciliatory approach to Israel defied the wishes of many of his own people, particularly young university students enamored with Nasserism and the Palestinian struggle for an independent homeland. Israel’s lightning victory over Iran’s Muslim brethren in the 1967 Six Day War had led to street protests, an upsurge in support for the Palestinian cause, and a tendency to lump Americans with the Israelis as a common foe. The decision by the Shah’s government to raise bus fares and alter bus routes in February 1970 had led to street clashes between hundreds of students and riot police in Tehran. The U.S. embassy cabled Washington that the protests quickly took on nationalist and anti-American, anti-Israeli, and antigovernment overtones even as MacArthur hastened to assure Washington that the sentiments expressed by the demonstrators were “insignificant.” Two months later, more than thirty thousand soccer fans chanted anti-Israeli slogans and took to the streets when their local team defeated the visiting Israeli team.


The Shah’s support for Israel was matched by his commitment to defend Saudi Arabia and the massive oil reserves of the lower Persian Gulf. If the Saudis and their oil fields got into trouble with domestic radicals, the Shah had offered to go in and sort them out. In his meeting with Nixon, MacArthur told the president that the problem with Saudi Arabia’s King Faisal was that he had started too late in the game to reform his feudal monarchy; things would have been different “if he had started back when the Shah had made his great social revolution, and sir, it is a complete revolution.”


MacArthur was referring to the Shah’s 1963 White Revolution, an ambitious package of progressive social and economic reforms meant to reassure the Kennedy administration that the Pahlavi crown was on the side of progress. Iran’s forests and waterways were nationalized. The royal estates and the king’s vast private landholdings were broken up in favor of peasant ownership. Women were granted voting and political rights. Health corps, literacy corps, and reconstruction and development corps were created. Workers’ profit sharing was introduced. The Shah was successful in co-opting many of the crown’s critics on the left. But the anticlerical nature of the reforms enraged Iran’s Shi’a religious establishment. Religious leaders, the mullahs, were especially offended by the emancipation of women, and they understood that the breakup of their estates would weaken their hold over the peasantry and make them financially dependent on handouts from the Pahlavi state. They damned the White Revolution as unconstitutional and un-Islamic and denounced a law to grant U.S. military personnel immunity from prosecution if they committed criminal acts on Iranian soil. The Shah struck back, comparing the mullahs to “a numb and dispirited snake and lice who float in their own dirt,” and he threatened that “the fist of justice, like thunder, will be struck at their head in whatever cloth they are, perhaps to terminate their filthy and shameful life.”


On June 3, 1963, a charismatic cleric by the name of Ruhollah Khomeini denounced the Shah in words remarkable for their slanderous tone and bitter invective. “O Mr. Shah, dear Mr. Shah,” he adjured, “abandon these improper acts. I don’t want people to offer thanks should your masters decide that you must leave. I don’t want you to become your father.” Khomeini’s detention at the hands of SAVAK, the state security police, triggered violent clashes in cities across Iran that briefly threatened the monarchy. The prime minister during the showdown between church and state was Asadollah Alam, and it was Alam who issued the order for troops to open fire on the demonstrators, restoring order at the cost of about one hundred lives. The question of what to do with Khomeini vexed the palace. The head of SAVAK during the crisis was General Hassan Pakravan, one of the few influential figures at court with clean hands. During his tenure as security chief torture was banned and the government kept open a dialogue with the opposition. Queen Farah described him as “a man of great culture, intelligence, and humanity.” The Shah was won over by Pakravan’s advice that the best way to keep peace at home was to exile Khomeini rather than have him executed for treason. Khomeini was sent first to Turkey and then to Iraq, where both governments kept a close eye on him. With Khomeini out of the way, the Shah felt sure he had seen off the threat from Iran’s religious right with a few rounds of grapeshot. Now he could get back to the real work of modernizing Iran and fulfilling his imperial destiny. That was certainly how the White House viewed events. U.S. officials were confident that the Shah had passed his great crisis and was now home free.


“Basically there is great stability [in Iran],” Ambassador MacArthur assured President Nixon, disregarding the recent attempt on his life. The Shah had “totally disarmed the Communists—the Tudeh Party.” Responding to a question about student unrest in Iran, he replied that “about ten percent are activists.” Nixon earned a round of guffaws from MacArthur and Haig when he cracked, “Well that’s less than we have.”


“It’s about fifty percent of ours,” Haig added.


“They want a greater voice in the thing,” MacArthur conceded. “But the Shah is wise enough to know that when you take a people that are from feudalism, and you drag them out of the womb of feudalism like a midwife driving a child out of the mother’s womb, you let loose great elemental forces. And this is what he’s done. Now he runs a fairly tight shop, but to channel these energies and forces.”


“He always tries to keep one foot ahead of them, huh?” Nixon noted with admiration.


“He does. He said to me the other day before the oil talks, he said—he was talking about how they need more revenue—he said, ‘Mr. Ambassador,’ he said, ‘I need more hospitals. I need more health services in my villages. I need more workers’ housing. I need more schools for my people.’ He said, ‘I must do these things.’ ”


“Hmm.” The president was clearly impressed.


“He’s got a profound, he’s developed a profound social conscience.”


“I just wish there were a few more leaders around the world with his foresight,” Nixon mused. “And his ability, his ability to run, let’s face it, a virtual dictatorship in a benign way. Because, look, when you talk about having a democracy of our type in that part of the world, good God, it wouldn’t work. Would it?” Democracy wasn’t working in Africa where the people “are just out of trees.” At least Iran had “some degree of civilization in its history.” Democracy was a luxury that very few nations could afford. “And it’s got to be that way. They aren’t ready. You know this. You’ve got to remember it took the British a hell of a long time of blood, strife, chopping off the heads of kings and the rest before they finally got their system.”





Chapter Two


GUARDIAN OF THE GULF


“Iran will get all available sophisticated weapons short of the atomic bomb.”


—The Shah, 1972


“Now is time to cash in credit with Iranians.”


—Henry Kissinger, 1972


THE SHAH’S REVENGE


Shell blasts and the crackle of rifle fire punctuated the first light of dawn over the Persian Gulf on November 30, 1971, the moment when Iranian commandos stormed three small islands strategically located at the mouth of the Strait of Hormuz. Three Iranian troops and four local police officers were killed in a brief firefight before the Pahlavi standard was raised in victory. Iran’s lightning strike brought to an end lengthy and ultimately inconclusive negotiations between Tehran, London, and local Arab sheikhs over division of the islands, Britain’s last imperial spoils in the region. The Shah had agreed not to challenge the decision by Bahrain, a former Iranian territory, to declare its independence but he wasn’t about to surrender his claim to the islands and saw them as fair compensation. Foreign Minister Ardeshir Zahedi had dismissed the territorial claim lodged by one sheikh with the memorable rejoinder, “I will wipe my ass with this paper and then flush it down the toilet.” With Iran’s annexation of Abu Musa, Greater Tunb, and Lesser Tunb, Mohammad Reza Shah Pahlavi was now confirmed in his self-designated role as “Guardian of the Gulf” in an act of daring that subsumed whatever remaining doubts Richard Nixon might have had about Iran’s military prowess or the Shah’s ability to defend America’s energy lifeline. But Iran’s Arab neighbors recoiled at the idea of ceding even an inch of Arab land to their Persian neighbor. Iraq broke off diplomatic relations with Tehran and expelled sixty thousand Iranian nationals, driving them over the border in wintry conditions. Libya’s Colonel Muammar al-Qaddafi blamed British diplomacy for the fiasco. He used the seizure of the islands to nationalize British Petroleum (BP) assets in his country and to withdraw “close to $1 billion of Libyan deposits in British banks.” Iran and Iraq exchanged insults and rushed troops into position to defend northern mountain passes and the rich oil lands to the south. While Queen Farah toured refugee camps, her husband traveled to a border town, where he proceeded to taunt Iraqi leaders. “We will not use our fist,” he declared. “They are dying of envy at our progress and the things we have accomplished in Iran.”


The fireworks in the Gulf brought to an end another year of triumph for Iran and its increasingly confident ruler. The Shah’s latest high-wire showdown with the oil consortium, begun the previous November when he squeezed an additional 5 percent profit share out of its operations, had ended in February 1971 when under the terms of the Tehran Agreement foreign oil companies operating in the Persian Gulf agreed to raise the price of a barrel of oil by 35 cents to $2.15 and settled on a complex formula to stagger additional price increases over the next five years. Demand for Middle East petroleum was rising worldwide. The era of cheap oil was drawing to a close. During the negotiations Ambassador MacArthur had gone to the palace to appeal for restraint. What he got instead was an imperial rejoinder from the Shah: “Am I hearing the big voice of a superpower?” For the Shah, who oversaw the negotiations between the oil companies and their host states, the new oil deal marked a triumph and a turning point. As one foreign observer noted, “Finally Iran was able to rely on oil as a principal source of revenue. Between 1970 and 1972 production increased from an average of 3.82 million barrels per day to 5.02 million barrels per day and revenues from $1.12 billion to $2.39 billion.” Iran swelled with national pride. The Shah boasted to Alam that the days when the Americans or anyone else could overthrow an Iranian leader were over. There would never be another 1953.


The Shah again took center stage when in October 1971 the royal family celebrated 2,500 years of Iranian monarchy in a lavish celebration at Persepolis. The Shah put great store in the ritual symbolism of state visits and the sort of grand pageantry that he hoped would further strengthen his standing with the Iranian people and identify the Pahlavi dynasty with its glorious predecessors. Millions of dollars and years of planning had gone into making this the coming out party of the century. As far as the Shah was concerned, Iran had now arrived on the world stage as a country of stature. To coincide with the public events the Iranian government built roads, tourist facilities, public health clinics, and 3,200 new schools. In cities around the world, exhibitions were held bringing Persian culture and music for the first time to a global audience. But there was sniping from the foreign media over the wisdom of building a Marie Antoinette–style tent village in Persepolis catered by Maxim’s of Paris at a time when Tehran still had open sewers.


Ardeshir Zahedi had resigned as foreign minister over the summer after a bitter clash with Prime Minister Hoveyda. Now ensconced in his late father’s villa in Switzerland, Zahedi wrote a strongly worded letter to the Shah protesting the extravagance and SAVAK’s detention of hundreds of young people suspected of being leftist sympathizers. The Shah ignored Zahedi’s criticism. If he betrayed any disappointment it was with Richard Nixon, who sent Vice President Spiro Agnew to represent the White House at the imperial gala. From the perspective of the Pahlavi court, Agnew was a nonentity, a “plebeian looking gentleman. Not well liked, with small eyes and the face of a not particularly intelligent sheep.” Agnew in turn had not enjoyed the Carnival Cruise atmosphere and resented being relegated in the pecking order behind eight kings and queens, thirteen presidents, two sultans, Prince Rainier and Princess Grace of Monaco, and Emperor Haile Selassie and his pet chihuahua—so much so that he retired to his chandeliered tent in the desert to sulk and play chess with his Secret Service detail. He refused to acknowledge the nine American reporters traveling with him and snatched film from a photographer who tried to take his picture. To top it off, Agnew came down with a nasty case of what Iranians called “the Shah’s revenge,” prompting round-the-clock attention from camp nurses.


The White House failed to make the connection between the Shah’s oil brinkmanship and Iran’s worsening fiscal problems. During the first two years of the Nixon presidency Iran had “acquired nearly $750 million in American arms, roughly the amount it had received during the period 1955–1969.” That was in addition to purchases from countries such as Great Britain, West Germany, and France. Defense expenditures were already acting as a drag on Iran’s civilian economy. A pattern had emerged of overspending followed by a need to catch up. In March 1971 the CIA reported that at the end of 1970 Iran’s holdings of gold and foreign exchange “had fallen to a six-year low (about $210 million), or less than two months’ imports.” The spy agency concluded that Iran’s “rapid economic and military expansion has led to considerable deficit financing and balance-of-payments problems. The revenue increases generated by the February oil settlement afford Tehran an opportunity to push economic development further or to pay off burdensome short and long-term debt. It seems likely that the Shah will choose expansion and will spend to the limit of Iran’s resources.” Barely ten days after settling with the oil companies the Shah proposed a budget for FY 1971–72 “that not only will consume all the increased oil revenues but will also require substantial deficit financing. The new budget will include a $1.3 billion deficit, or one-fifth of the expenditures, which will be covered by drawdowns on foreign loans or about $800 million and domestic borrowing of approximately $500 million. Both forms of borrowing will exacerbate an already difficult financial situation.” The CIA ended its analysis on a cautionary note: “By expanding its domestic borrowing, the government is using up credit normally available for private investment. Thus Iran will continue to walk a narrow financial tightrope.” At the end of 1971, Iran’s military absorbed more than 10 percent of GNP. Imported arms had caused $380 million in debt, “four-fifths to various western states, the rest to the USSR.” The CIA reported that Iran would shortly “not have enough money to pay for the investment required by an ambitious development plan while servicing its foreign debt, and providing the consumer goods that make for political tranquility.”
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